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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL TO LOWER MAINLAND 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION MEMBERS 
 

 

We are pleased to convey the fourteenth Annual Report and Resolutions Book of the Lower 

Mainland LGA.  Included in this report is a record of the year’s activities and items for 

consideration at the Annual Meeting to be held virtually on September 29, 2020. 

 

This publication has been divided into two parts: 

1. Annual Report 

2. Nominations and Resolutions 

 

1. ANNUAL REPORT 

 

In the first part of this publication you will find the: 

• President's Report 

• 2019 Financial Statements 

• 2020 Budget 

 

2. NOMINATIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

The second part of this publication contains materials to be considered at the 2020 Annual 

General Meeting.  

 

Nominations: 

Under this process, the Nominating Committee issues a Call for Nominations and manages that 

process but does not make recommendations. Information on those nominated for the 

2020/2021 Lower Mainland LGA Executive is included in this report and can be found in the 

AGM newsletter.  

 

Resolutions: 

This section contains resolutions submitted by our membership.  Due to the cancellation of our 

Annual Conference due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the resolutions were sent directly to UBCM 

without debate or endorsement by our members. Included in the package are:  

 

• 2 Executive Sponsored Resolutions 

• 1 Referred Late Resolutions from 2019 

• 54 Resolutions from Members Received by the Deadline 
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PART 1 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 
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PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 

We had planned for this Annual Report to be distributed at our Annual Conference and AGM 

which was scheduled to take place from May 6-8, 2020 in Whistler, BC.  We had an amazing 

program planned for our membership under the theme “Social, Natural and Financial Assets: 

Accounting for the Unaccounted.”  We also had a record number of registrations and 

sponsorships for the conference.  However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we reluctantly had 

to cancel. 

 

2020 thus far has been challenging to say the least. I have watched all our 33 member 

municipalities and regional districts shift and adapt and I have been impressed with your agility 

and forward thinking. Like our amazing members, the Lower Mainland Local Government 

Association has adapted to our current reality and will be holding our Annual General Meeting 

virtually on Tuesday, September 29th, 2020. Please sign up through the UBCM Convention 

registration page or alternatively, if you are not attending UBCM and wish to attend the Lower 

Mainland LGA AGM,  contact our Executive Director, Shannon Story at sstory@lmlga.ca to 

register.   

 

We will also be holding our annual CivX event virtually over three days from November 23-25, 

2020 so please save the date! This year’s theme is “Re-Imagine Local Government- Resilience, 

Revolution, Recovery: The Road Ahead.” 

 

2019 was a great year for the Lower Mainland LGA.  We hired our first Executive Director, 

Shannon Story.  Ms. Story’s creativity and leadership has been critical to the success of the 

organization during this challenging time.  We were all a little concerned about moving away 

from UBCM administration, but Shannon as our Executive Director has made the transition 

seamless and provided great confidence that the board made the right decision. This year, 

under Ms. Story’s leadership, we launched our new and improved member friendly website and 

ended the year in a strong financial position.  We also launched our advocacy program where 

we met with Provincial Ministers to lobby on behalf of our membership on issues important to 

our members. 

 

 My two years as your Area Association President is coming to an end.  I have had the privilege 

to serve your interests and have thoroughly enjoyed getting to know many of you. I look 

forward to taking on the role of Past President this year.  We have had a great group of people 

step forward to run for our executive positions and I am pleased to announce that they all won 

by acclamation. I feel confident about the future of our organization. 

 

Take care! 

 

Mayor Jack Crompton, President 
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2019 ACCOMPLISHMENTS IN BRIEF 
 

 

GENERAL 

• The Lower Mainland LGA hired its first Executive Director  

 

EXECUTIVE/COMMITTEES 

• Eight meetings of the Executive were held. 

• The Flood Control and River Management Committee of the Fraser Basin Council 

continues to open its meetings to all Lower Mainland LGA members in collaboration with 

various partners 

 

MEMBERSHIP/FINANCIAL 

• Membership remains strong with 100% supporting the combined voice of lower mainland 

local governments. 

 

CONVENTION & EVENTS 

• The 2019 Convention was held in Harrison Hot Springs and the theme was “Local 

Government 201: Working with Other Levels of Government” 

• A sold-out Area Association Luncheon was held during the 2019 UBCM Convention. 

• Another successful CivX was held on November 28, 2019 in conjunction with CivicInfo BC 

at the Wosk Centre for Dialogue.  The theme was “Civil Ideas for Less Civil Times” 

 

ADVOCACY 

 

• The Lower Mainland LGA Executive met with five provincial ministers during the UBCM 

Convention on the following topics important to our membership: 

-Call to Action on Global Climate Emergency 

-Support of Indigenous Court System 

-First Nations Participation on Commissions 

-Reduction of Speed Limits within Municipal Boundaries 

-Extension of Vacancy Taxation Authority to Local Government 

-United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples 

 

WEBSITE/SOCIAL MEDIA 

 

• A new and improved website was launched 

• The updated Lower Mainland Facebook page was launched 

 

COMMUNICATIONS 

• Two member newsletters were emailed to members and posted to the Association’s web 

site. One was the Annual pre-conference newsletter and the other was the post UBCM 

Convention newsletter. 

• Numerous emails were sent to the membership  
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2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Harrison Hot Springs Resort 

Harrison Hot Springs, BC 

May 9, 2019 

 

 

MINUTES OF BUSINESS MEETING 

 

The Business Meeting was called to order at 1:32 p.m. on May 9, 2019. 

 

 

1.  ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT the Agenda be adopted as circulated. 

 

 CARRIED 

 

2.  ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

 

 2018 Annual General Meeting Minutes dated May 10, 2018 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT the Minutes of the May 10, 2018 AGM be adopted as circulated. 

 

 CARRIED 

 

3.  PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT the President’s report be received. 

 

CARRIED 
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4.  REPORTS 

 

  Flood Control and River Management Committee Update 

   

The Flood Control and River Management Update was presented by Councillor Jason 

Lum. The report was provided for information. 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT the Flood Control report be received. 

 

CARRIED 

 

 Nominating Committee Report 

  

 It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT the Nominating Report as presented by Councillor Jason Lum be received. 

 

CARRIED 

 

5.  ELECTION 

 

The following positions were elected by acclamation: 

 

President Mayor Jack Crompton, The Resort Municipality of Whistler 

First Vice-President Councillor Laura Dupont, City of Port Coquitlam 

Second Vice-President Councillor Patrick Johnstone, City of New Westminster  

Directors-at-Large Councillor Trish Mandewo, City of Coquitlam 

 Councillor Samantha Piper, Harrison Hot Springs 

 Councillor Patricia Ross, City of Abbotsford and FVRD 

 

 

Past President Jason called for nominations from the floor for Third-Vice President.  Two 

nominations were received and Councillor Lum declared an election for the position of Third 

Vice-President.  The following candidates have been nominated for Third Vice-President: 

Dennis Adamson Director Fraser Valley Regional District 

Jenna Stoner Councillor District of Squamish 

 

Councillor Lum declared the following as the Third Vice President, as voted by the membership: 

• Jenna Stoner, District of Squamish 

 

 

6.  2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 
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 THAT the 2018 financial statements be received as circulated. 

 

 CARRIED 

 

 

7. LMLGA BUDGET, JANUARY 1, 2019 TO DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

THAT 2019 Budget and report be received. 

 

 

 CARRIED 

 

8.  ADJOURNMENT 

 

It was MOVED and SECONDED; 

 

 THAT the meeting be adjourned. 

CARRIED 

  

The meeting adjourned at 3:55 p.m. 

 

 

 

Certified Correct 

 

 

______________________    ______________________ 

 

Shannon Story     Jack Crompton 

Executive Director     President 
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And Independent Practitioners’ Review Engagement 

Report thereon 

Year ended December 31 2019 

(Unaudited) 
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KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 

member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  

KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.  

 
 
 

KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONERS' REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

To the Members of Lower Mainland Local Government Association 

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Lower Mainland Local 

Government Association, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 

December 31, 2019, the statement of operations, statement of changes in net assets 

and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

Practitioners' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements 

based on our review. We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted standards for review engagements, which require us to comply with relevant 

ethical requirements. 

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

standards for review engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner 

performs procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries of management and others 

within the entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and evaluates the 

evidence obtained. 

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in 

nature from, those performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 

on these financial statements. 
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Lower Mainland Local Government Association 
Page 2 

 
 

Conclusion 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that 

the financial statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Lower Mainland Local Government Association as at December 31, 2019, 

and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

 

 
 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 
Vancouver, Canada 
June 19, 2020 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

   2019 2018 

 

Assets 
 
Current assets: 

Cash $ 70,346 $ 84,201 
Accounts receivable  3,155 6,152 
Restricted short-term investment (note 3)  10,140 - 
Investments (note 4)  78,481 76,932 
Prepaid expenses  48,630 24,695 

 

  $ 210,752 $ 191,980 

 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 8,814 $ 1,530 
Deferred revenue (note 5)  - 10,000 

   8,814 11,530 
 
Net assets: 

Unrestricted  145,973 124,485 
Internally restricted (note 6)  55,965 55,965 

   201,938 180,450 
 
Subsequent events (note 9) 
 

  $ 210,752 $ 191,980 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 

   Director 

 
 
 

   Director 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Operations 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

   2019 2018 

 
Revenue: 

Annual general meeting and conference: 
Sponsorships $ 61,255 $ 59,656 
Registration fees 78,178 60,964 

Membership 76,199 74,794 
Interest income 3,734 2,507 
Other income 3,650 698 

  223,016 198,619 
 
Expenses: 

Annual general meeting and conference 115,923 120,521 
Office and general 85,605 56,004 

 201,528 176,525 
 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 21,488 $ 22,094 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

   Internally 
  Unrestricted restricted Total 

   (note 6) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 158,356 $ - $ 158,356 
 
Excess of revenue over expenses 22,094 - 22,094 
 
Interfund transfer (55,965) 55,965 - 

 
Balance, December 31, 2018  124,485  55,965  180,450 
 
Excess of revenue over expenses 21,488 - 21,488 
 

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 145,973 $ 55,965 $ 201,938 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

   2019 2018 

 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operations: 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 21,488 $ 22,094 
Items not involving cash   

Accrued interest on investments (1,549) - 
Accrued interest on restricted short-term investment (140) - 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accounts receivable 2,997 9,249 
Prepaid expenses (23,935) 20,850 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,284 (26,105) 
Deferred revenue (10,000) 4,000  

  (3,855) 30,088 
 
Investments: 

Purchase of restricted short-term investment (10,000) - 
Net redemption of investments - 28,568 

  (10,000) 28,568 

 
Increase (decrease) in cash (13,855) 58,656 
 
Cash, beginning of year 84,201 25,545 
 

Cash, end of year $ 70,346 $ 84,201  

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 
(Unaudited) 
 

 

5 

1. Nature of operations: 

Lower Mainland Local Government Association ("Lower Mainland LGA" or the “Association”) is 

incorporated under the Societies Act (British Columbia) and its principal activity is to promote the 

welfare and the well-being of taxpayers and residents of the members of the Lower Mainland 

LGA. The Lower Mainland LGA is a not-for-profit organization and is exempt from income taxes. 

On August 21, 2018, the Association changed its name from the Lower Mainland Municipal 

Association to the Lower Mainland Local Government Association. 
 

2. Significant accounting policies: 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for 

Not-For-Profit Organizations (“ASNPO”) under Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - 

Accounting. The Lower Mainland LGA’s significant accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Revenue recognition: 

The Lower Mainland LGA follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses 

are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or 

receivable if the amount received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably 

assured. 

Annual membership dues, registrations, and sponsorships are recognized as revenue in the 

year when services are provided 

(b) Contributed materials and services: 

Due to the difficulty in determining fair value, contributed materials and services are not 

recognized in the financial statements. 

(c) Financial instruments: 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Freestanding derivative 

instruments that are not in a qualifying hedging relationship and equity instruments that are 

quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value. All other financial 

instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized cost, unless management has 

elected to carry the instruments at fair value. The Lower Mainland LGA has not elected to 

carry any such financial instruments at fair value. 

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments measured subsequently 

at fair value are expensed as incurred. All other financial instruments are adjusted by 

transaction costs incurred on acquisition and financing costs, which are amortized using the 

straight-line method. 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

 

6 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Financial instruments (continued): 

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis at the end of the fiscal year 

if there are indicators of impairment. If there is an indicator of impairment, the Lower 

Mainland LGA determines if there is a significant adverse change in the expected amount or 

timing of future cash flows from the financial asset. If there is a significant adverse change in 

the expected cash flows, the carrying value of the financial asset is reduced to the highest of 

the present value of the expected cash flows, the amount that could be realized from selling 

the financial asset or the amount the Lower Mainland LGA expects to realize by exercising its 

right to any collateral. If events and circumstances reverse in a future period, an impairment 

loss will be reversed to the extent of the improvement, not exceeding the initial carrying 

value. 

(d) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASNPO requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates 
 

3. Restricted short-term investment: 

Restricted short-term investment is comprised of a guaranteed investment certificate (“GIC”) held 

as security for Lower Mainland LGA’s credit card account and not available for general use. The 

GIC earns interest at 2.09% per annum and matures on May 4, 2020. 
 

4. Investments: 

Investments are comprised of pooled investments held with the Municipal Finance Authority in 

money market funds. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the average annualized yield was 

1.86% (2018 - 1.57%).  
 

5. Deferred revenue: 

Deferred revenue consists of sponsorship revenues received in advance for the annual 

conference. 
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LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 
(Unaudited) 
 

 

7 

6. Internally restricted net assets: 

Internally restricted net assets are comprised of reserves restricted by the Executive Committee 

of the Lower Mainland LGA for future expenditures related to specific purposes. The Executive 

Committee approved a contingency reserve of $55,965 during the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2018 that is restricted for providing funding in the case of an emergency event 

such as cancellation of a conference. 
 

7. Financial instruments risks: 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. The Lower Mainland LGA invests in investments traded on 

the open market, and derived revenue in part, from income earned on money market funds. As a 

result, the Lower Mainland LGA is exposed to fluctuations in the market on the value of these 

investments. 

The Lower Mainland LGA believes that it is not exposed to significant credit, currency, interest 

rate, or liquidity risk arising from its financial instruments. 

 

8. Employee and contractor remuneration: 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, no individual employee or contractor for services 

recorded total annual remuneration of $75,000 or greater. No remuneration was paid to any 

directors of the Lower Mainland LGA during the year. 

 

9. Subsequent events: 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The 

situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact on the economy and 

an estimate of the financial effect on the Association is not practicable at this time. At the time of 

approval of these financial statements, the Lower Mainland LGA has cancelled its 2020 annual 

conference which will result in decreases in revenues and expenses in 2020. Other impacts could 

include potential future decreases in other revenue or expenses. 
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*This Budget was revised and 

approved by the Executive in 

August 2020 to adjust expenses 

due to the COVID-19 pandemic

Actual Actual Budget

2018 2019 2020

Operating Fund Revenue

Annual Dues 74,794 76,199 76,812

Investment Income 2,507 3,734 3,600

Other Events/Recoveries 698 3,650 10,000

Total Operating Revenue 77,999 83,583 90,412

AGM Fund Revenue

Registration Fees 56,564 66,078 0

Sponsorship & Exhibitors 64,056 73,355 0

Total AGM Revenue 120,620 139,433 0

TOTAL REVENUE $198,619 $223,016 $90,412

EXPENSES

Operating Fund Expenses

Meeting Expenses 2,792 2,622 500

Office Expenses & Misc. 1,529 1,760 1,000

Other Events/Workshops 0 0 0

UBCM Contract 45,120 0 0

Executive Director Contract 0 68,644 85,000

Staff Travel & Expenses 1,102 1,873 550

Communications 127 166 500

Bank Charges 17 71 250

Website 0 2,000 1,000

Contingency 31,396 21,488 0

Outreach & Advocacy 0 2,077 1,000

Insurance 2,105 2,105 2,105

Financial Review/Accountant 3,210 4,287 5,000

Legal Review for Societies Act 218 0 0

Total Operating Expenses 87,616 107,093 96,905

AGM Fund Expenses

Annual General Meeting 111,003 115,923 3,000

Total AGM Expenses 111,003 115,923 3,000

TOTAL EXPENSES $198,619 $223,016 $99,905

NET PROFIT/LOSS $0 $0 -$9,493

2020 DRAFT BUDGET

REVENUE
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TO:  Mayor/Chair; Council/Board 
 
FROM: Councillor Jason Lum, Lower Mainland LGA Past President 
 
DATE: July 15, 2020 
   
RE: SECOND CALL OUT FOR NOMINATIONS FOR LOWER MAINLAND 

LGA EXECUTIVE 
 

 
Please include the following information on your next meeting agenda. 
 
This circular is notice of the second call out for the Lower Mainland LGA Executive 
positions open for nomination, the process, and the procedures for nomination. 
 
The deadline for receipt of your nomination is Friday, August 14, 2020.  
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Lower Mainland LGA Annual Conference that 
was scheduled to be held in early May 2020 was cancelled.  As a result, the Lower 
Mainland LGA will be holding our Annual General Meeting (AGM) during the virtual 
UBCM Convention on Tuesday, September 29th from 2:30 to 3:30 pm.  Please 
register your attendance through the UBCM Convention registration system. 
 
Since the AGM will be held virtually, we cannot offer nominations from the floor 
and therefore in order to ensure procedural fairness, the nomination period will be 
re-opened until Friday, August 14th, 2020 at 5:00 pm. 
 
Please note that the following people have already submitted nomination papers 
before the original deadline: 
 
President: Laura Dupont, Port Coquitlam 
First Vice-President: Patrick Johnstone, City of New Westminster 
Second Vice-President: Jenna Stoner, District of Squamish 
Third Vice-President: Patricia Ross, City of Abbotsford 
Director At Large: Trish Mandewo, City of Coquitlam 
Director At Large: Michie Vidal, Village of Harrison Hot Springs 
Director At Large: vacant 
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The Lower Mainland LGA is the collective voice for local government in the Lower 
Mainland, including local governments in the Greater Vancouver Regional District, the 
Squamish-Lillooet Regional District, and the Fraser Valley Regional District. The 
membership elect directors to the Executive during the Annual General Meeting, and the 
Executive is charged with ensuring that policy direction set by the general membership is 
carried forward.  The Executive also provides operational and policy direction to the Lower 
Mainland LGA between Conventions. 

 
 
1. POSITIONS OPEN TO NOMINATIONS 
 
The following positions are open for nomination: 

• President   
• First Vice-President 
• Second Vice-President 
• Third Vice-President 
• Directors at Large (3 positions)  
 

 
2. NOMINATION PROCESS AND QUALIFICATIONS FOR OFFICE 
 
The candidate must be an elected official of a Lower Mainland LGA member. The 
candidate must be nominated by two elected officials of a Lower Mainland LGA local 
government member.  
 
Background information regarding the primary responsibilities and commitments of a 
Lower Mainland LGA Executive member is available upon request. 
 
A nomination and consent form are attached and should be used for all nominations. 
 
The Chair of the 2020 Nominating Committee is Councillor Jason Lum, Lower Mainland 
LGA Past President. 
 
 
3. NEXT STEPS 
 
It is part of the duties of the Nominating Committee to review the credentials of each 
candidate.  A Report on Nominations including, at the candidate's option, a photo and 
200-word biography will be prepared under the direction of the Nominating Committee 
and distributed in a Lower Mainland LGA Newsletter, which is distributed via email before 
the AGM. It is not the responsibility of the Lower Mainland LGA to edit applicant materials 
to make them suitable for print. If materials are not provided on time and print ready, the 
Lower Mainland LGA reserves the right not to include them in the newsletter. 
 

To be included in the Convention Newsletter, send your current photo, biography 
and completed nomination form to: 

sstory@lmlga.ca 
 

With subject line: Lower Mainland LGA Nomination Package – “applicant name” 

Deadline: Friday, August 14, 2020 at 5:00 pm 
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4. FURTHER INFORMATION 
 

All other inquiries should be directed to: 
 

Shannon Story, Executive Director of the Lower Mainland LGA 
at sstory@lmlga.ca 

PO Box 729 
Pemberton, BC V0N 2L0 

604 698-5753 
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NOMINATIONS FOR THE 2020 LOWER MAINLAND LGA 
EXECUTIVE 

 
We are qualified under the Lower Mainland LGA Constitution to nominate1 a candidate 
and we nominate: 
 
Name of nominee:  
 
Local government position (Mayor/Councillor/Director):  
 
Local government represented:  
 
Lower Mainland LGA Executive office nominated for:  
 
Printed Name    Printed Name  
of nominator:      of nominator:  
  
 
Position:     Position:    
 
Local Gov’t:    Local Gov’t:    
 
Signature:    Signature:    
 

CONSENT FORM 

 
I consent to this nomination and attest that I am qualified to be a candidate for the office 

I have been nominated to pursuant to the Lower Mainland LGA Constitution2.  I also agree 
to provide the following information to the Executive Director by August 14, 2020: 
 

 2”x3” Photo (high resolution) 
 Biographical information. No more than 200 words in length. 

 
Printed Name:   
 
Running for (position):  
 
Local Government:   
 
Signature:   
 
Date:   

    
1 Nominations require two elected officials of members of the Association. 
2 All nominees of the Executive shall be elected representatives of a member of the Association.  
 

Return to:  sstory@lmlga.ca 
c/o Lower Mainland LGA, PO Box 729, Pemberton, BC V0N 2L0 
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2020 EXECUTIVE NOMINATIONS 
 

 

As a result of the Call for Nominations, the Committee has received the following nominations: 

 

PRESIDENT: 

• Councillor Laura Dupont, City of Port Coquitlam 

 

FIRST VICE-PRESIDENT: 

• Councillor Patrick Johnstone, City of New Westminster 

 

SECOND VICE-PRESIDENT: 

• Councillor Jenna Stoner, District of Squamish 

 

THIRD VICE-PRESIDENT: 

• Councillor Patricia Ross, City of Abbotsford & Director, Fraser Valley Regional District 

 

DIRECTOR AT LARGE (three to be elected): 

• Trish Mandewo, City of Coquitlam 

• Michie Vidal, Village of Harrison Hot Springs 

• Paul Albrecht, Langley City 

 

For further information on the nomination and election process contact: 

 

 Councillor Jason Lum, Past President 

 c/o Lower Mainland LGA 

 PO Box 729 

 Pemberton BC V0N 2L0 

 Phone: (604) 698-5753 

 

*The original Call for Nominations went out to the membership on January 6, 

2020 and were due on March 12, 2020.  However, due to the cancellation of our 

May Annual Conference due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the re-scheduling of 

our AGM to September 29th, we decided to re-open the nominations until 

August 14th since we will not be able to have nominations from the floor since it 

will be held virtually. 
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New Executive Bios

Laura Dupont
PRESIDENT

Laura is inspired by nature. She is a member of the Burke Mountain 
Naturalists, and a Director of the Riverview Horticultural Centre Society. 

She is a founding member of Poco Heritage Trees, a grassroots group dedicated to educating 
the community about the importance of nature and the value of trees. She is a member of the 
Safe Energy Leadership Alliance and Vice Chair of The Tri-City Food Security Group. Laura 
has been a very engaged member of Metro Vancouver’s Climate Action Committee for over 
6 years. Laura and her family stay active by biking, hiking and walking Port Coquitlam’s 
numerous parks and trails and beautiful Burke Mountain.

Patrick Johnstone
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT

Patrick Johnstone is serving his second term on New Westminster 
Council. Patrick is a Professional Geoscientist who works in environmental 

protection and policy. In New Westminster, he Chairs the City’s Sustainable Transportation 
Advisory Committee and the Facilities, Infrastructure and Public Realm Advisory Committee 
and serves on the Electrical Utility Commission. He is also Chair of the Board of the 
Community Energy Association, and previously served as UBCM representative on the Board 
of Society of Contaminated Sites Approved Professionals of BC. Patrick’s entry into local 
government politics was through his keen interest and advocacy for active transportation, 
sustainable development, and climate action. He has been serving on the Lower Mainland 
LGA since 2017, the last two years as Second Vice President, and values the opportunity for 
collaboration with FVRD and SLRD members as we seek to better connect our region. 

Jenna Stoner
SECOND VICE PRESIDENT

I grew up in the Sea to Sky corridor, have happily called Squamish home 
since 2014, and was elected as a councillor for the District of Squamish in 

2018. I am passionate about stewarding the growth of my community to ensure that Squamish 
remains livable, resilient, vibrant and inclusive for all. I bring over ten years of experience 
working at the intersection of business, government, and environmental conservation. I hold 
a Masters of Marine Management (MMM) from Dalhousie University and a B.Sc. from the 
University of Victoria.

I was elected to the Lower Mainland LGA Executive in 2019 as third vice-president. Since 
joining the Executive, I have had the opportunity to learn about the breadth and depth 
of the organization and see first-hand the important role that collaboration among our 
membership can play. Each of the Lower Mainland LGA members is unique, but we have 
shared challenges and cross-boundary issues. I believe that the Lower Mainland LGA can 
support finding durable solutions to these challenges and issues by being a platform for 
networking, dialogue, collaboration and joint-advocacy. I look forward to further supporting 
this organization and its membership through 2020-2021 as second vice-president if given 
the opportunity.    

Patricia Ross
THIRD VICE PRESIDENT

Patricia Ross has 25 years of leadership experience as a councillor and 
23 years as a Fraser Valley Regional District board member, serving 

on a wide variety of committees providing her with a good knowledge base representing 
all sectors. Patricia was chosen to represent Canada in the 5th cohort of Leadership for 
Environment and Development International, a research and training institute committed 
to fostering leadership in sustainability worldwide. She graduated from the program in 
1996 and has gone on to help train subsequent cohorts. She has used this training to do 
presentations regarding sustainability all over the world including one on the rewards and 
challenges of environmental work in local government at the 2004 International Climate 
Change conference in Buenos Aires, Argentina. Patricia ran her own recycling business for 
14 years and is currently the chair of GrowYourBiz Abbotsford, an advisory and mentoring 
board for women in business. Patricia has been given many awards for her community work, 
including several from the Abbotsford Chamber of Commerce, the Paul Harris Rotary Club, 
Soroptimist club, Youth Commission, Queen’s Jubilee Award and Woman of the Year in 2009 
from the Business and Professional Woman’s Club.

Trish Mandewo
DIRECTOR AT LARGE

Trish is a multi award-winning serial entrepreneur, Author, Councillor 
for the City of Coquitlam, Co-Founder of Women’s Collaborative 

Hub Society, Diversity & Inclusion Champion, Entrepreneurship trainer and Mentor.  A 
hardworking and strong believer in community involvement, Trish has a deep-seated 
commitment and dedication to public service.

She has extensive board experience on private, non-profit and government boards.  Her 
current appointments are:

• Lower Mainland Lower Government Association – Member at large
• Union of BC Municipalities – Vancouver Metro Area representative
• Metro Vancouver – Electoral A committee member
• City of Coquitlam – Chair of Multiculturalism committee
• City of Coquitlam – Chair of Universal Accessibility Advisory Committee
• City of Coquitlam - Vice Chair of the Parcel Tax Review Panel

As we are facing new challenges by the day, Trish believes in advocating for rural and urban 
communities alike to find new ways to mitigate risks and adapt to climate change.  We must 
plan our cities for the future in order to provide opportunities for agriculture and small to 
medium businesses to thrive as they are pivotal to our respective communities’ success. 

As an economic development enthusiast, policy and processes junkie, Trish hopes to serve 
another year on the LMLGA committee and continue to provide a unique perspective.

Michie Vidal
DIRECTOR AT LARGE

Throughout her life, Michie has demonstrated a history of community 
involvement, leadership and organizational expertise.  Ranging from 

participating in a monthly “Feed the Homeless” campaign to a Past President of her 
professional association, her commitment to benefiting the lives of others is evident. Her 
career as an emergency services 911 dispatcher provided extensive knowledge in local 
government structure and systems.  Following retirement to the Village of Harrison Hot 
Springs, Michie continued her dedication to the community.  She united local residents, 
businesses and all levels of government towards a common goal related to a significant 
environmental and economic concern.  The culmination of these experiences led her to seek 
election in 2018 and is currently in her first term of Councillor within the Village of Harrison 
Hot Springs.  She is proud to represent the Village with her portfolio appointments and liaison 
responsibilities including:

• Fraser Valley Regional District Indigenous Relations Committee
• Fraser Valley Regional District Board, Alternate Municipal Director
• Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District Board, Alternative Municipal Director
• Fraser Valley Regional Library, Alternate Municipal Director
• Agassiz Harrison Health Communities Committee
• Local Community to Community Forums

Smaller communities face unique challenges in governance and Michie strongly supports 
the benefits of coordinated action through the LMLGA.  She welcomes the opportunity to 
advance these goals as a Director at Large member of the executive team.

Paul Albrecht
DIRECTOR AT LARGE

I have been a councillor in Langley City for the past six years and have 
been on the UBCM Executive Board as one of two Vancouver Metro Area 

representatives for the past three years. During that time, I have been able to develop very 
strong connections and relationships with members of the Provincial government as well as 
other peers in the province. I bring over thirty years of municipal experience in all areas of 
infrastructure, servicing, planning, land use, development and economic development that 
I have used in my elected roles to represent and serve my constituents.  My involvement on 
UBCM’s Economic Development and Health and Social Development Committees have 
been invaluable in highlighting the needs for the Metro region. We in Local Government are 
facing very uncertain times in so many areas in each of our communities and the value of 
an experienced executive board with strong relationships with senior orders of government 
to obtain the required support legislatively and financially for all Local Governments in BC 
cannot be overstated. Good governance requires the ability to develop strong relationships 
with many, I have the skills to collaborate, obtain consensus, and help develop the kind of 
strong team needed for the LMLGA to make a difference for all of our communities.

I am honoured to receive your support for the position of Director at Large on the LMGA 
Board. In these uncertain times, I feel it is vital to develop a strong and respected executive 
board for all lower mainland communities when dealing with housing, homelessness, mental 
health, childcare, transit, tax relief, revenue loss, economic recovery, climate change and 
financial opportunities with other orders of government.  
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2020 RESOLUTIONS 
As of March 5, 2020 

RESOLUTIONS RECEIVED BY THE DEADLINE 

 
Due to the cancellation of the Annual Lower Mainland LGA Conference 

and AGM scheduled for May 2020 due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, 

resolutions were not debated or endorsed by the membership and were 

instead sent directly to UBCM to go  forward to the September 

Convention 

LMLGA EXECUTIVE RESOLUTIONS 
 

ER1 Continued Expansion      LMLGA EXECUTIVE 

of Trans Canada Hwy #1 

         

WHEREAS the Province of BC has identified the Fraser Valley as a growth and innovation 

corridor as part of a framework for improving British Columbians’ standard of living to 

restore the British Columbia Dream;  

 

AND WHEREAS the critical congestion and safety challenges along the TransCanada 

Highway through the Fraser Valley and toward Hope continue to impact the provincial 

movement of goods and services and access to the Asia–Pacific gateway, undercut the 

economic viability of a region with the province’s highest population growth, undermine 

public safety and quality of life for residents and travelers, and create significant 

environmental and greenhouse gas emission impacts for BC;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province prioritize funding 

toward the continued expansion of the TransCanada Highway through the Fraser Valley 

and towards Hope in order to support HOV, Electric Vehicles, Autonomous Vehicles, 

Rapid Transit and Truck transportation (HEARTT);  
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AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this funding be made a high priority of the 

government of British Columbia.  
 

 

ER2 Flood Risk Mitigation through      LMLGA EXECUTIVE 

Green Infrastructure and Natural Assets 

  

WHEREAS the side channels, tributaries and sloughs of the Fraser and other large rivers 

have deep value to First Nations as historic transportation corridors, sites of food 

cultivation and harvest, refuge and gathering places; many of these same waterways are 

or were valuable recreational fishing, boating and swimming sites but are no longer safe 

and accessible for these activities; 

 

AND WHEREAS these waterways provide moderating effects for localized and riverine 

flooding and valuable habitat for wild salmon and other important species; 

 

AND WHEREAS there is no current requirement or standard practice for treating these 

natural and manmade waterways as valuable natural assets for their provision of the 

aforementioned ecosystem services; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Federal and Provincial 

governments remove constraints and implement requirements for incorporating green 

infrastructure and nature-based solutions in flood management to ensure effective 

flood risk mitigation while maintaining or restoring social, cultural and ecological co-

benefits for these systems; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Federal and Provincial 

governments promote natural assets as a viable emergency planning solution and 

provide appropriate funding through the Disaster Mitigation Adaptation Fund, Investing 

in Canada Infrastructure Program, Community Emergency Preparedness Fund, 

Emergency Management B.C. and other similar emergency planning and mitigation 

funds. 

    

 

PART 1 – REFERRED RESOLUTIONS 
UBCM has referred late resolutions from the 2019 resolutions cycle for consideration by 

Lower Mainland LGA members. 

 

RR1 Access to Emergency Health Services    Port Coquitlam 

 

WHEREAS the February 2019 Auditor-General's Report "Access to Emergency Health 

Services" recommended that "the Ministry of Health work with local governments and 

British Columbia Emergency Health Services (BCEHS) to ensure that BCEHS can 

implement a co-ordinated approach to pre-hospital care that results in: 
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• medical oversight, to the extent appropriate, across agencies to ensure that patient 

care meets acceptable medical standards 

• data-sharing between agencies to better understand whether patients are getting the 

right medical interventions at the right time 

• signed agreements outlining the roles and responsibilities of fire departments, 

including the level of care provided 

• confirmation that first responders are being notified of events where they can best 

contribute to patient care." 

 

AND WHEREAS urban fire departments continue to receive fewer calls to attend to 

provide emergency medical assistance and the public must wait for BCEHS, 

unnecessarily, despite the ability of fire departments to provide faster medical 

assistance; 

 

AND WHEREAS local governments and BCEHS have been meeting for several years and 

have failed to enter into agreements for the fire service personnel to provide emergency 

medical assistance to the level of their training; 

 

AND WHEREAS some local governments want the ability to respond to more calls and 

provide a wider range of emergency medical assistance; 

 

AND WHEREAS despite the fact that fire services personnel may provide ancillary health 

services pursuant to the Health Emergency Services Act without an agreement with the 

BCEHS, the BCEHS controls all calls, through the Critical Response Model, and does not 

dispatch such calls: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that, at their discretion, local governments maintain 

complete authority over the level of emergency medical assistant training their 

respective fire departments and personnel will attain, consistent with the level of 

service each deems appropriate to their communities; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, at their discretion, local governments have the 

authority to determine the appropriate response level, of their fire departments, 

including call type based on the needs of their respective community. 

 

 

PART 2 – RESOLUTIONS RECEIVED BY THE DEADLINE 

 

R1  Varied Tax Rate for the Residential Class    Langley City 

 

 WHEREAS the Province of British Columbia through the BC Assessment Act – Prescribed 

Classes of Property Regulation B.C. Reg. 438/81 specifies that there is one assessment 

class for all types of residential properties and the Community Charter outlines that a 
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municipal bylaw to establish the property value taxes each year under section 197 (3) 

specifies there is a single rate for each property class;  

 

AND WHEREAS the assessed value of the multi-family strata units and single family 

housing appreciates at vastly different rates, leading to large fluctuations and tax rate 

swings year-to-year between these housing types;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province of British Columbia 

amend the BC Assessment Act and the Community Charter to allow the residential class 

to be split into two distinct residential classes so that a different rate may be applied to 

each type of residential property to allow for better tax planning, and a more consistent 

application of property tax changes for all residents no matter their housing type.  

 

 

R2  Cannabis Retail Tax Revenue Sharing     Langley City 

 

WHEREAS following the legalization of non-medicinal cannabis in July 2018, the 

Province has implemented legislation that enables local governments to regulate 

cannabis retail activities within their jurisdictions;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province has finalized a cannabis excise tax coordination agreement 

with the Federal Government, which includes a share of the 75% of the cannabis excise 

tax revenues being allocated to provinces and territories;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province acknowledges the strong local government interest in 

cannabis excise tax revenue sharing and the Province has noted it is committed to 

working with local governments to understand the potential costs they may experience 

as a result of cannabis legalization;  

 

AND WHEREAS cannabis retail stores have been legally operating in BC local 

government jurisdictions since 2018 and excise tax revenues have been collected by 

senior governments since 2018;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province of British Columbia 

commit to negotiating with local governments, through UBCM, to advance the 

development and implementation of a Provincial – local government cannabis excise tax 

revenue sharing agreement.  

 

 

R3  Increase Zero-Emission Vehicle Act Interim Targets  Township of Langley 

 

WHEREAS the BC Zero-Emission Vehicle Act 2025 target for light-duty vehicle sales is 

10% and actual sales reached 9% in 2019 yet there is still significant unmet demand for 

zero-emission vehicles across BC, and the purpose of the Zero Emission Vehicle Act is to 
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require industry to make zero-emission vehicles more affordable and available to British 

Columbians 

 

AND WHEREAS the Township of Langley, Metro Vancouver and many of its member 

municipalities have committed to achieving carbon neutral communities by 2050, 

requiring drastic reductions in greenhouse gas emissions from passenger vehicles 

starting today;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province of BC amend the Zero-

Emission Vehicle Act interim sales targets above the currently stated 10% in 2025 and 

30% in 2030, to targets that accelerate the availability of zero-emission vehicles in BC 

beyond the current rate of adoption.  

 

 

R4 Zero-Emission Vehicle Mandate for Medium    Township of Langley 

and Heavy-Duty Vehicles 

 

WHEREAS medium- and heavy-duty vehicles produce over 30% of the greenhouse gas 

emissions from road transportation in BC and the Province of BC has committed to 

reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 and Metro Vancouver has 

committed to becoming a carbon neutral region by 2050;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province has enacted the Zero-Emission Vehicle Act which 

recognizes the importance of zero-emission vehicle sales requirements as a critical 

action to accelerate greenhouse gas emissions reductions in the transportation sector; 

yet there is currently no legislation or targets in place to increase the adoption of zero 

emission medium and heavy-duty vehicles in BC;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Province of BC enact zero-emission 

vehicle sales requirements for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles. 

 

R5 Development Cost Charges (DCC) Bylaw and Ministry  City of Abbotsford 

of Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) Infrastructure 

 

 WHEREAS the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing administers the approval of the 

Development Cost Charges Bylaw for local municipalities and has rejected the inclusion 

of local governments capital costs for Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 

highway interchanges on the basis that the local government does not own the 

aforementioned tangible capital asset;  

 

AND WHEREAS The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure expects up to 33% of 

highway interchange capital costs be paid for by the local municipality;  
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Province of BC provide for local governments to 

be able to include their portion of the capital cost for Ministry of Transportation and 

Infrastructure interchanges in their Development Cost Charges Bylaw or that Ministry of 

Transportation fully fund capital costs for all MOTI owned Interchange projects. 

 

 

R6 Request to the Government of BC for Dedication of 1% of PST  Port Moody 

to Local Governments 

 

WHEREAS due to downloading of responsibilities, local governments are increasingly 

reliant on granting systems that are not reliable in the long term and unequitable due to 

staff resources for small local governments compared to larger municipalities; 

 

AND WHEREAS increased predictable revenue sharing arrangement reflects shared 

interests between municipalities and the Province, including policing, recreation, transit, 

and the environment; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to allocate an 

amount equivalent to 1% of BC’s Provincial Sales Tax (PST) to local governments across 

British Columbia as part of ongoing cost-sharing agreements. 

 

 

R7 Greenhouse Gas Limits for New Buildings    Port Moody 

 

 WHEREAS the energy efficiency requirements for new buildings in the British Columbia 

Energy Step Code continues to allow levels of carbon pollution that are inconsistent with 

local government and provincial climate change commitments; 

 

AND WHEREAS failing to limit carbon pollution from new construction will necessitate 

retrofits to those new buildings in the future at greater difficulty and cost for building 

owners, occupants, and taxpayers; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to include GHG 

limits for new construction as an enforceable element in Division B of the British 

Columbia Building Code, including a pathway to achieve zero GHG emissions for new 

construction in a timeline commensurate with the science of climate change and BC's 

reduction targets; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to revise the 

Province's goal in the Clean BC Plan to "make every new building constructed in BC "net-

zero energy ready" by 2032" to "make every new building constructed in BC "zero 

emissions" and "net-zero energy ready" by 2032"; 
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AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to liaise with 

staff at Association of Kootenay and Boundary Local Governments, North Central Local 

Government Association, and Southern Interior Local Government Association to ensure 

that there are provisions in the GHG limits that take into account and support the 

unique circumstances faced by rural communities, such as, but not limited to, decisions 

to utilize local materials and alternative building methods. 

 

R8 Recommending Change of Strata Act and Residential Tenancy Act   Port Moody 

To Disallow Discrimination Against Pet Owners 

 

WHEREAS BC is experiencing a housing crisis and it is hard enough to find shelter even if 

the prospective renter does not have pets that serve in effect as close family members 

and emotionally essential life partners for their owners; 

 

AND WHEREAS, in 2017, an estimated 1700 pets had to be given up or terminated 

because their owners could not find stable shelter with them; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to change the 

Residential Tenancy Act  and Strata Act such that landlords and strata organizations may 

not reject applicants for rental units because their family unit may include pets, on the 

condition that those pets would not pose serious and specific concerns in regard to 

physical danger, noise, smell, or an adverse allergic reaction among other building 

residents. 

 

R9 Election Finance Contribution Limits    Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS in 2017 the BC Legislature amended the Local Elections Campaign Financing 

Act (LECFA), banning special interest and corporate political donations at the local 

government level during an election year, placing limits on contributions and mandating 

public disclosures. However, the LECFA only applies to electoral organizations and 

candidates during an election year for the specific purpose of campaigning, or the last 

28 days before the election in the case of a third party sponsor; 

 

AND WHEREAS the October 2018 Elections BC Report of the Chief Electoral Officer  

provided two recommendations on Improving Accessibility, Transparency and 

Compliance which were as follows: 

 

8.1. An elector organization is an organization that endorses or intends to 

endorse a candidate in an election; 

 

8.2. Require elector organizations to register with Elections BC and file annual 

disclosure statements including reports of all financial transactions, 

similar to those filed by provincial political parties. Maintain the 
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membership requirement (50 members) for elector organizations as 

prescribed by s. 93(2)(a) of the Local Government Act: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of BC Municipalities request that the 

Province amend the Local Elections Campaign Financing Act to apply contributor and 

contribution limits to operating accounts of elector organizations and candidates for 

operational purposes at all times, and to require that they provide annual disclosure 

reports of contributions received in operating bank accounts, in election years and 

non-election years; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Third Party Sponsors be required to provide 

disclosure reports for the full election year or the date that a referendum is announced, 

whichever is later. 

 

R10 Election Finance Reporting     Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS in order to ensure the fairness of our local government election process, 

there should be full and transparent reporting of financial contributions to elector 

organizations and candidates, including full and transparent reporting by third party 

entities that engage in significant campaign activities in support of candidates or 

endorsed candidates, and that all financial transactions – both during a campaign and 

outside of campaign periods – be reported, including contributions toward operating 

accounts and operating expenses, including those of third party entities used for 

campaign and non-campaign political purposes and activities: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of BC Municipalities request that the 

Province amend the Local Elections Campaign Financing Act to require full and 

transparent reporting of in-kind support and financial contributions made to municipal 

election candidates in elections years, as well as to sitting elected officials in non-

election years. 

 

 

R11 Election Finance Tax Credits     Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS 

 

i)   The Canada Revenue Agency cites the Income Tax Act for the deduction from tax 

otherwise payable of a portion of the total eligible amount of monetary 

contributions to a registered party, a provincial division of a registered party, 

a registered association, or a candidate, as those terms are defined in the Canada 

Elections Act. The maximum annual tax credit an eligible individual may claim is 

$650.00 Contributions to a Registered Party, a Registered Association or to a 

Candidate(s) in a federal election;  

 

000035



ii) “Political Contributions Regulations” in B.C.’s Income Tax Act allows for eligible 

individuals to make contributions to B.C. political parties, registered B.C. 

constituency associations and/or candidate(s) in a provincial election. Eligible 

individuals may claim credit on a T1 income tax return calculated as the lesser of 

75% of contributions up to $100 or 50% of contributions between $100 and $550 or 

33 1/3% of contributions in excess of $550; 

  

AND WHEREAS Bill 15, Local Elections Campaign Financing Amendment Act, 2017 

received Royal Assent on November 30, 2017, resulting in many changes to the 

financing provisions of the Local Elections Campaign Financing Act. The rules applied to 

the 2018 General Local Elections and are retroactive to October 31, 2017. In local 

election in B.C., an eligible individual may contribute up to $1,200 per year per 

campaign to an unendorsed candidate or $1,200 in total to each campaign of an elector 

organization and its endorsed candidates: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of B.C. Municipalities request the Province 

support personal income tax credits, for contributions made in compliance with the B.C. 

Local Elections Campaign Financing Act, as is similar to the rules and requirements in 

B.C.’s Income Tax Act, for personal income tax credits for provincial political 

contributions.   

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Union of B.C. Municipalities request the 

Minister of Municipal Affairs of B.C. write a letter to B.C.’s Minister of Finance and 

request the Provincial government make necessary amendments to B.C.’s Income Tax 

Act to allow eligible individuals to claim credit on a T1 income tax return for political 

contributions made in accordance to the B.C. Local Elections Campaign Financing Act.  

 

R12 Accessibility Funding for Passenger Directed Vehicles   Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS Bill 55, the BC Passenger Transportation Amendment Act which took effect 

September 16, 2019, imposes a $0.30 fee for each non-accessible vehicle trip but 

otherwise does not determine how or when those funds will be deployed to support 

accessibility of Passenger Directed Vehicles (PDVs);  

 

AND WHEREAS the disability community has identified a number of PDV accessibility 

concerns, including but not limited to lack of accessible vehicles or central dispatch for 

accessible vehicles, accessible booking or payment processes or compulsory driver 

training: 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the UBCM calls on the provincial government to work 

in consultation with the Passenger Directed Vehicle industry, disability community, and 

local government representatives in order to design and implement an Accessibility 

Funding Strategy for all Passenger Directed Vehicle fleets that ensures that 

transportation options for persons with disabilities are equal to those provided to 
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non-disabled persons in all Passenger Directed Vehicle fleets, and specifically that all 

fleets have sufficient numbers of wheelchair accessible vehicles, and accessible booking, 

dispatch and payment processes. 

  

R13 Accessibility Guarantee for Passenger Directed Vehicles              Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS Bill 55, the BC Passenger Transportation Amendment Act which took effect 

September 16, 2019, imposes a $0.30 fee for each non-accessible vehicle trip but 

otherwise does not oblige Passenger Directed Vehicles to a timeline or otherwise 

mandate a percentage of all fleet vehicles be accessible;  

 

AND WHEREAS According to statistics from the Passenger Transportation Board, about 

14 per cent of taxis in the province and about 19 per cent in Metro Vancouver are 

accessible and in other jurisdictions Transportation Network Services (app-based ride 

hailing services) have demonstrated an ability to provide accessible vehicles as part of 

their fleet and business model: 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM calls on the provincial government to work in 

consultation with the Passenger Directed Vehicle industry, disability community, and 

local government representatives in order to design and implement a Wheelchair 

Accessibility Guarantee for all Passenger Directed Vehicle fleets that support a minimum 

percent of all fleets are guaranteed to be wheelchair accessible, sufficient to ensure that 

transportation options for persons with disabilities are equal to those provided to 

non-disabled persons in all Passenger Directed Vehicle fleets.

 

R14 Reducing Truck Pollution on Residential-Adjacent Commercial  Vancouver 

Transport (Trucking Routes) 

 

WHEREAS the high number of older, heavy-duty diesel trucks travelling on residential-

adjacent trucking routes exposes homes, schools, businesses and residents to significant 

traffic pollution linked to increased risk of respiratory diseases, such as asthma and 

heart disease. Of particular danger is soot, which is indicative of diesel exhaust, a 

carcinogen associated with lung cancer;  

  

AND WHEREAS according to a July 2018 study by University of Toronto professors in 

collaboration with Environment and Climate Change Canada, the Ontario Ministry of 

Environment, Conservation and Parks, and Metro Vancouver, elevated levels of traffic 

pollution can be detected as far as 250 metres from major roads, putting thousands of 

British Columbians at risk of suffering serious health issues from living on or near 

commercial transport (trucking) routes:   

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) lobby the 

Provincial and Federal governments to significantly strengthen regulations restricting 
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traffic pollution, particularly of the particulates (soot) emitted by heavy-duty vehicles as 

well as requiring fuel alternatives that significantly reduce pollution on 

residential-adjacent commercial transport routes.  

 

R15 B.C. Clean Kilometre Act for Ride Hailing Fleets   Vancouver 
 

WHEREAS Clean BC states that the province will prioritize reducing climate pollution by 

shifting vehicles, homes, industry and business off  burning fossil fuels and toward 

greater use of clean B.C. electricity and other renewable energies, with a target of a 40% 

reduction in Greenhouse Gas emissions over 2007 levels by 2030;  

 

AND WHEREAS approximately 40% of GHG emissions in B.C. are due to vehicles, and 

shifting to zero-emission vehicles will not only help the provincial and local governments 

meet Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emission-reduction targets but also strengthen the 

economy, improve air quality and public health, and reduce fuel costs for drivers: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the provincial government design and 

implement a BC Clean Kilometre Act for Ride Hailing fleets (Transportation Network 

Services) and taxi fleets (Passenger Directed Vehicles) that supports the targets set in 

Clean BC and the IPPC report and requires ride hailing fleets and taxi fleets to reduce 

their emissions accordingly and that this act be developed in consultation with the ride 

hailing industry and local government representatives, recognizing there may be 

differences in regional requirements based on availability of EV charging infrastructure. 

   

 

R16 Provincial Tools for Building Energy Bench Marking  Vancouver 

                 

WHEREAS the Province of BC has communicated support for a 2017 UBCM motion 

requesting that the Province develop an energy benchmarking program requiring that 

buildings above a size threshold benchmark their energy performance and report this 

information to the province annually and that the resulting data be available to local 

governments to inform their climate policy and programs, but not yet acted on that 

motion—leaving room for additional direction; 

 

AND WHEREAS the urgency to implement measures to help reduce Greenhouse Gas 

(GhG) emissions in the building sector has grown since the October 2018 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report verified that drastic 

reductions in GhG emissions are needed by 2030 in order to avert catastrophic climate 

change impacts, and increasing numbers of local governments in BC (numbering 31 as of 

January 31, 2020) declare a global climate emergency and develop bolder plans to 

mitigate accelerating climate change: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of B.C. Municipalities (UBCM) request that 

the Province act on the 2017 UBCM motion for a building energy benchmark program 
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within a year and that the UBCM request of the Province that the program include 

appropriate industry support tools to facilitate easy compliance, a benchmark data 

management system accessible by local governments to help inform their industry 

engagement and policy development, and plans and timelines for expanding the 

program to include other building types.   

 

R17 Re-Examining Municipal Pension Plan Divestment  Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS since 2016, when the UBCM report, Primer on Fossil Fuel Divestment and 

the Municipal Pension Plan noted that “Divestment may compromise our investment 

strategy, increase risks and costs, and negatively affect our clients’ investment 

returns”, there have been major shifts in global climate science and investment 

strategies; 

 

AND WHEREAS evidence is growing that fossil fuel-free funds are outperforming fossil 

fuel investments. The 2019 return on the B.C. Government Employees Union’s fossil 

fuel-free investments, for example, was 21.7 percent: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of B.C. Municipalities (UBCM) re-examine 

and update its 2016 Primer on Fossil Fuel Divestment and the Municipal Pension Plan 

report in light of globally changing investment and divestment strategies and inform 

B.C. Investment Management Corporation, as the provider of investment management 

services for B.C.’s Municipal Pension Plan, of the concerns regarding the growing 

financial risks related to investing in fossil fuels and its support for a plan, built on 

leading practices related to fossil fuel-free investment portfolios, to fully divest 

Municipal Pension Plan funds from fossil fuels. 

 

 

R18 Provincial Enabling of Property Assessed Clean Energy   Vancouver 

 (PACE) Financing by Local Governments 

 

WHEREAS local governments in British Columbia are considering how to most effectively 

support members of their communities in actions to mitigate climate change, especially to 

reduce Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions from buildings, which account for over 50% of 

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions in many communities, but are challenged by the fact that the 

vast majority of buildings are privately owned and most building owners face financial barriers 

to energy and emission-reducing retrofits;  

 

AND WHEREAS there is a reluctance by the Province to pursue public financing mechanisms for 

private buildings but rapidly growing interest by private investors to put their capital to work 

solving challenges such as climate change, while earning a reasonable return on investment—as 

evidenced by the $11 trillion in funds being divested globally from fossil fuels in 2019 and 

nearly a billion dollars of third party private investment in Commercial Property Assessed Clean 

Energy Financing (C-PACE) in the United States in 2017 and 2018: 
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the UBCM request that the Province update the Vancouver 

and Community Charters to enable B.C. local or regional governments to establish Property 

Assessed Clean Energy Financing programs that include accessing third party private 

investment. 

 

R19 Declaring a Homelessness Emergency:  Making an Emergency  Vancouver 

Plan to Drastically Reduce Homelessness 

 

WHEREAS British Columbia has at least 7,655 homeless people, and homelessness robs people 

of their security, dignity, rights and lives, as homeless people have about half the life 

expectancy as housed people; 

 

AND WHEREAS Bill C-97 (June 21, 2019) containing the National Housing Strategy Act, and the 

federal right to housing legislation enshrines the need to “recognise that the right to adequate 

housing is a fundamental human right affirmed in international law.”: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the UBCM call upon the Province to declare a Homelessness 

Emergency and work with all orders of governments, BC Housing and other partners on a 

Homelessness Emergency Plan to build or find dignified, affordable housing for at least 80 

percent of counted homeless people within three years. 

 

R20 #AllOnBoardCampaign      New Westminster 

 

WHEREAS youth across British Columbia and all people living in poverty deserve safe, easy, and 

affordable commutes;  

 

AND WHEREAS a lack of affordable transportation is a significant barrier to social connection, 

access to services and labour market inclusion for low income adults and youth;  

 

AND WHEREAS direct harm can be brought to low income adults and youth due to punitive fare 

evasion ticketing, which can impact credit ratings and further entrench poverty;  

 

AND WHEREAS the #AllOnBoard campaign has been endorsed by business, labour, and 

advocacy organizations across British Columbia in their call to remove the barriers to public 

transit for youth and those experiencing poverty;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM ask the provincial government work to make transit 

access more equitable by supporting free public transit across BC for youth under 19 years of 

age;  

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that UBCM ask the provincial government support a sliding 

scale monthly pass system based on income; 
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AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that UBCM ask BC Transit and TransLink proactively end the 

practice of fare evasion ticketing of minors, and introduce community service and restorative 

justice options for adults as an alternative to fare evasion tickets.  

 

 

R21 Clean Vehicle Initiatives       New Westminster 

 

WHEREAS a key part of the CleanBC program is “Move. Commute. Connect.”, an Active 

Transportation Strategy with the goal to make it easier for people to commute to work or 

school using active transportation methods in order to cut down on carbon pollution and help 

improve the liability of our communities;  

 

AND WHEREAS the CleanBC program also includes the “CEVforBC” program that provides 

rebates of up to $8,000 for the purchase of a new electric or plug-in hybrid automobile, 

recognizing that incentives to alternatives to gasoline vehicles reduces greenhouse gas 

emissions, and makes our communities cleaner, safer, and more liable;  

 

AND WHEREAS recent advances in technology have resulted in a new generation of “Electric-

Assist Cycles” that make cycling more accessible to more people for their daily commutes and 

shopping and recreation trips, allowing people to make more efficient, GHG-free and healthy 

transportation choices;  

 

AND WHEREAS there is no public policy or community benefit to incentivizing the purchase of 

electric automobiles that is not achieved in a greater extent by incentivizing the purchase of 

electric-assist cycles:  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM ask that the provincial government expand the Clean 

Energy Vehicle program to include financial incentives for the purchase of electric assist cycles 

in scale with the incentives provided for the purchase of electric automobiles. 

 

  

R22  School Bus Safety       New Westminster 

 

WHEREAS motor vehicle seat belt laws have been fundamental to improved road safety in 

Canada over the past 40 years;  

 

AND WHEREAS the US National Transportation Safety Board is now recommending three-point 

seat belts in all new school buses and 37 states are now either requiring three-point seat belts 

for school buses or have started down the legislative pathway towards this requirement;  

 

AND WHEREAS Transport Canada recognizes that seat belts on school buses can offer added 

protection for school-age children, have created technical requirements for their installation 

and use, and allow provinces, territories and school bus operators to decide whether to install 

seat belts;  
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AND WHEREAS the Ministry of Education has the authority to set standards to protect the 

safety of public school students in British Columbia, and the Ministry of Public Safety and the 

Office of the Solicitor General are responsible for regulating road safety in British Columbia:  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Union of British Columbia Municipalities call upon the BC 

Ministry of Education and the BC Ministry of Public Safety to mandate that all buses 

transporting students in British Columbia be equipped with seat belts that meet Transport-

Canada regulatory standards and institute programs to assure those belts are used safely. 

 

R23 Community Amenity Contributions     Coquitlam 

 

WHEREAS communities, across BC are challenged to enhance and deliver services and 

amenities including but not limited to affordable housing, community centres, park and fire 

service expansion to ever increasing populations; 

 

AND WHEREAS Development Cost Charges do not adequately address many of these items, as 

such guidelines were established by the Provincial Government under which local governments 

could ask for “Voluntary Contributions” from development to provide a range of identified 

amenities yet no accompanying legislation was established to support the guidelines; 

 

AND WHEREAS local governments undergo extensive negotiations and processes to establish 

and secure commitment for these voluntary contributions from development, further 

encumbering and delaying the delivery of much needed housing stock across the affordability 

spectrum; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Provincial Government work with 

local governments and key stakeholders including the development industry to establish 

legislation under which the charging of Community Amenity Contributions is enforceable and 

inclusive of pre-established objectives and costs much in the manner of Development Cost 

Charges. 

 

R24 A Provincial Extended Producer Responsibility    Delta 

Program for Cigarettes and Vaping Products 

 

WHEREAS waste from smoking cigarettes and vaping is unsightly, toxic to the environment and 

marine life, and is one of the most common sources of litter in many communities; 

 

AND WHEREAS awareness and enforcement campaigns, have been ineffective in addressing 

the problem, and public ashtray programs have had mixed success; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the B.C. government to: 
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(i) work with the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) to 

include cigarette and vaping waste as a priority product category for extended 

producer responsibility in Canada, consistent with the 2019 Canada-Wide Action 

Plan on Zero Plastic Waste; and  

 

(ii) work with industry to implement a province-wide extended producer 

responsibility deposit-return program for cigarettes and vaping waste to 

eliminate litter generated by smoking. 

 

R25 Safety Requirements for Existing Secondary Suites   Delta 

 

WHEREAS secondary suites in single family dwellings are a widespread form of affordable 

rental accommodation in many B.C. communities; 

 

AND WHEREAS the B.C. Building Code does not provide sufficient flexibility to allow existing 

secondary suites in single family dwellings to meet current B.C Building Code requirements 

without incurring significant costs associated with reconstruction: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the B.C. government to establish a province-

wide policy on alternative life safety requirements for existing secondary suites in single family 

dwellings. 

 

R26 Housing Supports for Adults with Developmental Disabilities  Delta 

 

WHEREAS adults with developmental disabilities receive only $375 a month for shelter 

(housing) which is inadequate to allow them to live independently; 

 

AND WHEREAS adults with developmental disabilities are not eligible for BC Housing subsidies, 

and BC Housing refers them to Community Living BC for additional support; 

 

AND WHEREAS Community Living BC provides support to address disability-related housing 

needs, but cannot fund the actual cost of housing: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the B.C. government to ensure that the 

totality of supports available for adults with developmental disabilities is adequate to support 

long-term independent-living, or semi-independent living with minimal supports, within their 

communities. 

 

 

000043



 17 

R27 Establish Standards for Building Electrification  District of North Vancouver 

Heat Pumps and Water Heaters 

 

 WHEREAS currently local governments are prohibited from requiring local standards or 

technical requirements;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province enact legislation to 

empower local governments to establish standards for building electrification, heat pumps, and 

water heaters.  

 

R28 Congestion Pricing      District of North Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS congestion leads to a plethora of issues, such as increased air pollution, increased 

GHG emissions, and reduced quality of life for individuals;  

 

AND WHEREAS congestion charges have been successful in cities around the world;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province enact legislation to enable 

municipalities to impose and collect vehicle congestion charges.  

 

R29 Green Roofs       District of North Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS Currently the Local Government Act allows a local government to require 

landscaping under section 527 and to control runoff under section 523, but the LGA and 

Community Charter do not empower local governments to require and enforce the related 

building standard of construction (prohibited under the Building Act) or to require and enforce 

maintenance of green roofs, including with security requirements;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province amend the Local 

Government Act to empower local governments to expressly require green roofs and enforce 

the related building standard of construction, and to require and enforce maintenance of green 

roofs, including with security requirements.  

 

R30 Predominant Purpose of Bylaw            District of North Vancouver          

                                                                                                                                                     

WHEREAS the original intent of section 9(2) of the Community Charter was to give a council 

unfettered discretion to elect to adopt a bylaw under a head of power determined by the 

council such that a bylaw will be upheld if it is attacked on the basis that the predominant 

purpose in fact (versus the legitimate purpose elected by the council) is one requiring 

ministerial approval;  

 

AND WHEREAS the original intent and effect of section 9(2) was that a municipality need only 

determine one proper purpose for a bylaw to be valid, “even if members of Council may have 
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had other motivations”: International Bio Research v. Richmond (City), 2011 BCSC 471 at para. 

43;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province amend section 9(2) of the 

Community Charter to provide that (a) a bylaw is presumed to be enacted validly, in good faith 

and for a proper purpose if the council elects to determine in the bylaw the predominant 

purpose, and (b) that the council may adopt a bylaw under more than one head of power under 

the Community Charter, whether this is a matter of concurrent jurisdiction under section 9(1).  
 

R31 Regulate or Prohibit in Relation to Business   District of North Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS the current statute limits the authority to only “regulating” in relation to “business” 

and the original white paper on the Community Charter contained the proposed authority to 

“prohibit” as well as “regulate”, as in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, Toronto, 

Winnipeg and Yukon;  

 

AND WHEREAS in order to proceed with several climate change best practices, it will be 

necessary to prohibit certain business practices, such as selling fossil fuel heating systems after 

a certain date;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province amend section 8(6) of the 

Community Charter to enable a council by bylaw to regulate or prohibit in relation to 

businesses, business activities and persons engaged in business.  

 

R32 Water Conservation and Grey Water Use   District of North Vancouver 

             

WHEREAS local governments may require water conservation and grey water use in relation to 

a drainage system under section 8(2) and (3)(a) of the Community Charter, and as a condition in 

a phased development agreement under section 516(3) of the Local Government Act, but not in 

relation to plumbing requirements for new buildings or the retrofitting of old buildings;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province enact legislation to 

empower local governments to require water conservation and grey water use in relation to 

plumbing and drainage requirements for new buildings or the retrofitting of old buildings.  

 

R33 GHG Reporting for Business     District of North Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS Businesses in Canada are currently required to report their emissions only if their 

facilities emit 10,000 tons or more CO2 equivalent per year;  

 

AND WHEREAS carbon reporting for businesses is recognized as an important mechanism for 

corporate social responsibility;  
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province amend section 8(6) of the 

Community Charter to enable a council by bylaw to regulate or prohibit, or impose 

requirements, in relation to businesses, business activities and persons engaged in business.  

 

R34 GHG Reduction Legislation     District of North Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS Measuring and reducing carbon pollution is critical to addressing the climate 

emergency:  

 

AND WHEREAS the courts are currently bound by the Plastic Bag Decision which would likely 

require ministerial approval of environmental bylaws and limit authority under the other heads 

of power;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province enact legislation to enable 

local governments to require GHG emission reduction or elimination, including the sale or 

installation of fossil fuel heating systems and sale of fossil fuel vehicles, and require upgrades to 

or removal of fossil fuel heating systems.  

 

R35 Regional Geo-Hazards       Pemberton 

 

 WHEREAS the landscape of many rugged outdoor areas of BC face exposure to multiple 

hazards with potential for natural disaster, such as forest fires, landslides and flooding which 

impact residents as well as the traveling public;  

 

AND WHEREAS the majority of Provincial funding that is available is for response-related 

activities after an event has occurred;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province be requested to allocate 

funding to support more pro-active measures for risk management of regional geohazards 

through the establishment of consistent and regular monitoring, 

 

R36 Provincial Funding for Dike Upgrades      Pemberton 

 

WHEREAS the Diking infrastructure is crucial to flood mitigation for the protection of residents 

and the general public;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Provincial government will only allocate funding for dike upgrades which 

meet high-cost seismic standards;  

 

AND WHEREAS neglecting dike upgrades while trying to facilitate designs that are to seismic 

standards could leave residents vulnerable to flooding disasters and exposed to massive and 

inevitable response costs in the interim;  
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Provincial government consider 

applications for funding for dike upgrades which may not meet seismic standards, but would 

allow for essential and cost-effective minor upgrades.  

 

R37 Free Menstrual Products in Civic Facilities   Port Coquitlam 

 

 WHEREAS equity-based policies around access to menstrual products helps to support 

inclusion, mobility, reduces stigma, and promotes gender equality;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province of British Columbia issued ministerial order M149/89 on April 3, 

2019, requiring all public schools to have free menstrual products in school restrooms and 

numerous jurisdictions across British Columbia and Canada have enacted policies to provide 

menstrual products in school, park, and civic restrooms to promote the health, mobility, and 

participation of citizens;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the UBCM call upon the Province of British Columbia to 

provide policy direction and funding to cover the costs associated with providing free and 

accessible menstrual products in local and regional government run civic facility restrooms, 

including parks, libraries, shelters, service centres, police, judicial and incarceration centres.”  

 

R38  Emergency Mitigation and Preparedness   Harrison Hot Springs 

 

WHEREAS the Province has adopted the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction; 

 

AND WHEREAS proposed changes to the BC Emergency Program Act will include disaster 

mitigation as an additional local government responsibility; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province be similarly required by 

legislation to undertake disaster mitigation work on all lands and facilities under the care and 

control of the Province where emergency events could negatively impact adjacent communities 

under local government jurisdiction. 

 

R39 Extended Producer Responsibility   Harrison Hot Springs 

 

WHEREAS the Province has adopted recycling regulation of the Environmental Management 

Act;  

 

AND WHEREAS BC’s Industry-led product stewardship programs require producers of 

designated products to take extended producer responsibility for the life cycle management of 

their products; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province include a regulation for 

producers of child car seats, mattresses and upholstered furniture ensuring the producers’ 
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responsibility for the life of the product and reducing municipal waste disposal costs; the 

amount of garbage in landfills and a reduction in illegal dumping. 

 

R40 Sustainable Development Goals      Squamish 

 

WHEREAS, all 193 member nations of the UN General assembly adopted the 17 Sustainable 

Development Goals for achievement by 2030 to ensure a better, and more sustainable, 

equitable, peaceful, survivable, and prosperous future for all; 

 

AND WHEREAS, every level of government has authority over areas critical to progress on most 

of the Sustainable Development Goals; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Province require all local government to report on their 

efforts and progress in achieving each of the Sustainable Development Goals within their 

geographic jurisdiction; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the UBCM Executive work with the Province to help local 

governments improve their reporting and accountability over time by developing a 

standardized reporting approach for the Sustainable Development Goals at a municipal and 

regional level. 

 

R41 Regulate Sale and Installation of Fossil Fuel Infrastructure   Squamish 

 

WHEREAS many local governments have declared climate and ecological emergencies and have 

set significant targets to reduce emissions, to protect the environment, and to support health, 

wellness, and quality of life; 

  

AND WHEREAS many existing and new buildings rely on gas or oil for cooking, air and water 

heating, and as a consequence have high greenhouse gas emissions footprints even at Step 5 of 

the BC Energy Step Code, and that currently local governments are restricted in their ability to 

regulate the sale, rental, and installation of cooking, heating and hot water systems in new and 

existing buildings; 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to enact legislation to 

empower local governments to regulate the sale, rental and installation of fossil fuel cooking, 

heating and hot water systems in new and existing buildings. 

 

R42 Facilitating Clean Energy Retrofits      Squamish 

 

WHEREAS many local governments have declared climate and ecological emergencies and have 

set significant targets to reduce emissions, to protect the environment, and to support health, 

wellness, and quality of life; 
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AND WHEREAS existing buildings account for 11% of BC’s current greenhouse gas emissions, 

and retrofitting those buildings is critical to BC meetings its climate targets, while bringing 

money into the economy, adding new jobs to the market, and reducing energy bills for citizens; 

  

AND WHEREAS a “Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE)” program is an effective way to 

facilitate critical building retrofits, but existing legislation creates a significant administrative 

burden and other barriers for local governments wanting to implement an effective PACE 

program; 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to enact “Property 

Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) legislation” following the PACEAlberta legislative checklist to 

develop a “pay as you save” energy retrofit incentive program for residential and commercial 

building owners. 

 

R43 Home Emissions and Energy Labelling/Rating     Squamish 

 

WHEREAS many local governments have declared climate and ecological emergencies and have 

set significant targets to reduce emissions, to protect the environment, and to support health, 

wellness, and quality of life; 

  

AND WHEREAS existing buildings account for 11% of BC’s current greenhouse gas emissions, 

and retrofitting those buildings is critical to BC meetings its climate targets, while bringing 

money into the economy, adding new jobs to the market, and reducing energy bills for citizens; 

  

AND WHEREAS Home Emissions and Energy ratings and labelling provide a good system for 

homeowners and buyers to raise awareness of their property’s Emissions and Energy 

performance which in turn helps to encourage changes to reduce property emissions, but 

currently there is no statutory authority for a local government to require Emissions and Energy 

labelling or rating; 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to enact legislation to 

enable a local government to require building Emissions and Energy rating and labelling. 

  

R44 Solving RCMP Municipal Resource Pressures     Squamish 

 

WHEREAS many regions in British Columbia are experiencing population growth in addition to 

provincial promotion of industrial and tourist activity in rural or remote areas that do not have 

the necessary public safety infrastructure; 

 

AND WHEREAS BC has seen an almost 30% increase in Provincial Parks and Recreation Site 

visitation since 2014, most of which are outside municipal boundaries; 

 

AND WHEREAS municipalities impacted by industrial or tourism hot spots outside their 

boundaries have experienced increased criminality and road safety issues with minor or no 
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increases in Provincial RCMP police resources resulting in municipal RCMP police resources 

becoming the backstop to address the pressures created by rural population growth, provincial 

tourism promotion and industrial project approvals; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor 

General of BC develop a funding model whereby Provincial RCMP resources increase and are 

allocated to regions across BC at a rate aligned with provincial tourism and/or industrial activity 

growth and rural population increases in that region. 

 

R45 Tiny Home Legitimization      Squamish 

 

WHEREAS communities across B.C. are experiencing a housing crisis, and the full spectrum of 

affordable small housing forms and options that could meet their needs are not currently 

available to them; 

 

AND WHEREAS tiny homes, single detached housing units less than 46.45 square metres (500 

square feet) distinct from mobile homes or recreational vehicles and meant for full-time living, 

could support infill densification (as laneway alternatives), and yet some of their features are 

not permissible as per the B.C. Building Code (and the National Building Code), therefore 

unavailable to communities in need of financially accessible and affordable small housing 

options; 

  

 THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM ask the Province to work with the BC Building Code 

Interpretation Committee to review the 14 Code change requests (ranging from application of 

the code, definitions within the code, combination rooms, ceiling heights, doorways, stairs, 

guards, smoke detectors, escape windows and lateral loads to plumbing fixtures) made at the 

federal building code level in support of mobile tiny houses in March 2017 by the Canadian 

Home Builders’ Association; 

 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED the Province should incorporate these changes into Part 9 of 

the BC Building Code, that would define tiny houses as allowable permanent dwellings, and 

thus permit them to be constructed where local government official community plans and 

zoning bylaws deem them appropriate. 

 

R46 Fair Access to Funding for Regional Public Transit    Squamish 

 

WHEREAS access to reliable public transit is critical to building affordable, healthy, connected, 

safe, equitable, accessible, and carbon neutral communities; 

 

AND WHEREAS the South Coast British Columbia Transportation Service Region (Vancouver 

Area) and the Victoria Regional Transit Service Area (Victoria Area) have access to a funding 

model that allows them to share the cost of public regional transit between drivers, user fares, 

and tax payers; however, this funding mechanism is not available to local governments outside 

of the two aforementioned areas; 
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the government of BC and BC Transit 

work together in 2020 to build on the current municipal/provincial cost sharing model to 

include a three-way cost-share funding model (drivers, fares, and provincial/municipal taxes) 

for sustainable public regional transit and make this new model available to all local 

governments in time for 2021 budget cycles. 

 

R47 Practical Measures for Resource Roads     Squamish 

 

WHEREAS the changing role of natural resource roads for communities (due to population 

growth, diversified commercial and recreational uses) and various emerging issues (safety, 

search and rescue, evacuation planning) are not being adequately addressed by the current 

management framework; and 

 

AND WHEREAS, opportunity for stakeholders including the local public and local government to 

participate in collaborative road use planning and decision making can be frustrated by lack of 

information exchange and confusing or inadequate protocols, classifications and definitions; 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request the BC government to implement certain 

immediate practical measures to facilitate integrated resource road use management and 

planning including, as recommended in the 2010 UBCM/ Province of B.C. Joint Resource Roads 

and Communities Committee report: 

1.         To explore by policy the ways and means and criteria to distinguish resource road classes 

defined as high community or public use resource roads, along with flexible, result-oriented 

definitions for their maintenance (including deactivation); and 

2.         To initiate, through collaboration, local platforms for information exchange and dialogue 

on road management matters between public, commercial and resource industry parties with 

an interest in resource roads. 

  

R48 ICBC Data for GHG Reduction Efforts     Squamish 

 

WHEREAS BC’s transportation sector accounts for about 37 percent of the Province’s total 

greenhouse gas emissions; 

  

AND WHEREAS local governments are struggling to find accurate data that quantifies the 

transportation emissions in their municipality or region so that they can develop local action 

plans to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from this sector; 

  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the BC government require ICBC to collect 

mileage data when drivers renew their vehicle insurance and then share the data of kilometres 

driven and fuel and vehicle type annually with local governments. 
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R49 Speculation and Vacancy Tax     District of West Vancouver 

 

WHEREAS housing affordability is a key challenge in many communities facing high median 

home prices, including a number of homes that are vacant;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province reported that in 2018, $58 million was collected under the 

Speculation and Vacancy Tax program;  

 

AND WHEREAS the Province gave the City of Vancouver the power to impose its own vacancy 

tax, which has provided Vancouver with approximately $40 million in additional revenue: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the provincial government provide local 

governments with the power to levy their own Speculation and Vacancy Tax, so that they too 

can address housing affordability and other community effects of vacant homes. 

 

 

R50 Creation of Risk-Sharing Model that Returns Strata Premiums  White Rock 

And Owner Deductibles to 2019 Levels 

 

WHEREAS strata corporations in British Columbia have seen insurance premiums swell up to 

several hundred percent, and strata owners similarly had deductibles rise exponentially, all due 

in part to climate change-related risk aversion by insurers: 

 

AND WHEREAS stratas have increasingly become British Columbians’ residence of choice 

because of their relative affordability and improved land use, but those perceived values are 

now threatened over escalating insurance costs; 

 

AND WHEREAS the loss of multi-unit homes as a viable housing option for British Columbians 

would be economically catastrophic to our province: 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM request that the Province act swiftly and decisively to 

create a risk-sharing model that returns strata premiums and owner deductibles to 2019 levels, 

adjusted for inflation. 

 

R51 Benefits of Public Car Insurance       Burnaby 

 

 WHEREAS public car insurance creates local jobs and significant investments in municipalities 

through road safety and improvement, grants-in-lieu, and community grants while providing 

greater control to municipalities to plan for risks and costs;  

 

AND WHEREAS jurisdictions with only private insurance options have experienced significant 

rate hikes year after year while accident benefits dramatically decline;  
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THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the UBCM will call on the provincial government to preserve 

public car insurance, including jobs and local investments, in British Columbia.  

 

R52 Addressing Increases to Condominium Insurance    Burnaby 

 

WHEREAS stratified condominium home ownership is a growing form of tenure in communities 

across the province and insurance rates have been increasing;  

 

AND WHEREAS over the past year condominium stratas have experienced substantial increases 

to insurance premiums or found it difficult to secure an insurer for their buildings;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Union of BC Municipalities call upon the Province to take 

action to address the skyrocketing costs for condo insurance. 

 

R53 Supporting Tenants and Local Governments in the Delivery    Burnaby 

of Tenant Assistance 

 

 WHEREAS local governments have limited authority to require enhanced protections for 

tenants, except in limited instances, such as rezoning applications;  

 

AND WHEREAS the benefits provided to tenants under local government tenant assistance 

policies often help vulnerable individuals and families in the community, including those 

receiving income assistance from senior levels of government;  

 

AND WHEREAS even when local government tenant assistance policies may apply, 

implementation and enforcement of local government tenant assistance plans are challenging 

due to overarching provincial mandates, jurisdiction, and processes;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that UBCM urge the provincial government to review the  

Residential Tenancy Act and other provincial legislation to:  

• Allow local governments the ability to require tenant assistance, such as financial 

compensation and supports to tenants above those required in the Residential Tenancy 

Act, for additional types of permits and applications, and provide local governments 

greater enforcement powers to ensure compliance and delivery of tenant assistance 

benefits secured by local government;  

• Ensure monthly rental supplement payments received during displacement as benefits 

under local government tenant assistance policies are not considered income, which 

may inadvertently affect an individual's ability to qualify for income and disability 

assistance programs and other financial assistance; and,  

• Have the Office of the Information and Privacy Commissioner for British Columbia 

create guidance documents for local governments and landlords on the collection of 

personal information for the purpose of tenant assistance policies.  
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R54 Provision of Free Prescription Contraception in BC   Burnaby 

 

 WHEREAS cost is a significant barrier to people accessing contraception, particularly to people 

with low incomes, youth, and people from marginalized communities;  

 

AND WHEREAS providing free prescription contraception has been shown to improve health 

outcomes for parents and infants by reducing the risks associated with unintended pregnancy, 

and is likely to reduce direct medical costs on the provincial health system;  

 

AND WHEREAS contraceptive methods targeted at men and those with penes (i.e., condoms or 

vasectomies) are available at low cost, no cost, or are covered by BC’s Medical Services Plan;  

 

AND WHEREAS contraceptive methods for people with uteruses (i.e. birth control pills, intra-

uterine devices, or hormone injections) have high up-front costs, making access to 

contraception unequal and gendered;  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the UBCM call on the provincial government to make all 

prescription contraception in BC available at no cost under the Medical Services Plan. 
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APPENDIX  

1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 CONSTITUTION 

 

1. The name of the society is LOWER MAINLAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION. (the 

“Association”) 

 

2.  

The purposes of the Association shall be: 

 

(a) To represent, in one organization, the various regional districts and local 

governments of the Membership Area, as defined in the Bylaws; 

 

(b) to secure all possible united action in dealing with local government matters of 

interest to our members; 

 

(c) to co-operate with other organizations dealing with matters under Provincial or 

Federal jurisdiction; 

 

(d) to co-operate with the Union of BC Municipalities and other associations of 

municipalities in British Columbia for the advancement of the principles of local 

government; 

 

(e) to secure united action among its members and to promote greater autonomy 

within local government;  

 

(f) to acquire and distribute amongst the members, municipal information that 

may be deemed to be of value to members; and 

 

(g) to hold meetings for promoting the aforesaid purposes. 
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 BYLAWS 

 

 Part 1 - Interpretation 

 

1.   (1) In these bylaws, unless the context otherwise requires, 

 

(a) "directors" means the directors of the Association for the time being; 

 

(b) “Executive” has the meaning ascribed thereto in paragraph 25(2); 

 

(c) “Non-Voting Members” has the meaning ascribed thereto in paragraph 5(1); 

 

(d) "registered address" of a member means the members address as recorded 

in the register of members; 

 

(e) "Societies Act" means the Societies Act of the Province of British Columbia 

from time to time in force and all amendments to it; 

 

(f) “Voting Members” has the meaning ascribed thereto in paragraph 5(2). 

 

(2) The definitions in the Societies Act shall apply to these bylaws. 

 

2. Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa; and words importing a male 

person include a female person and a corporation. 

 

  

 Part 2 - Membership 

 

3. The members of the Association are: 

 

(1) the applicants for incorporation who have not ceased to be members; 

 

(2) those municipalities and regional districts within the Squamish-Lillooet Regional 

District, the Greater Vancouver Regional District (Metro Vancouver) and the Fraser 

Valley Regional District (collectively, the “Membership Area”), who subsequently 

become members in accordance with these bylaws and that have not ceased to be 

members; and 

 

(3) a person who holds the office of mayor or councillor of a member municipality or 

chair or director of a member regional district and who has not ceased to be a 

member. 

 

4. All past Presidents of the Association shall be members of the Association for their 

lifetimes, but they shall only be entitled to vote at all meetings of the members if they are 

also Voting Members. 
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5. (1) Non-Voting Members - A municipality or regional district within the Membership 

Area, may apply to the directors for membership in the Association and on 

acceptance by the directors shall be a member.  Those member municipalities and 

regional districts accepted for membership under this paragraph  shall not be 

entitled to vote at any meeting of the members  of the Association (such members 

being hereinafter collectively called the “Non-Voting Members”). 

 

 (2) Voting Members – Upon acceptance for membership of a municipality or regional 

district in accordance with paragraph 5(1), then the mayor and all councillors of 

such municipality and then the chair or directors of such regional district and all 

future elected mayors and councillors of such member municipalities and chairs and 

directors of such member regional districts shall automatically become members of 

the Association without application.  The aforesaid memberships shall continue until 

the earlier of: 

 

 (a)  the date such municipality or regional district ceases to be a member; 

 

  (b) the date such mayor, councillor, chair or director ceases to hold such office; and 

 

 (c)  the date such person otherwise ceases to be a member in accordance with 

these bylaws. 

 

Those members accepted for membership under paragraph 5(2) shall be entitled to 

vote at all meetings of the members of the Association (such members being 

hereinafter collectively called the “Voting Members”). 

 

(3) Each Non-Voting Member shall be responsible for keeping an accurate list of the names, 

addresses for delivery, email addresses and telephone numbers of the Voting Members 

representing its municipality or regional district, and shall provide this list to the 

executive coordinator or administrative support staff within 30 days upon request. 

 

6. Every member shall uphold the constitution and comply with these bylaws. 

 

7. (1) The amount of the first annual membership dues shall be determined by the 

directors and after that the annual membership dues shall be determined at the 

annual general meeting of the Association. 

 

(2) Any outstanding dues or fees must be paid before the annual general meeting and 

before members will be permitted to vote at the annual general meeting.  The 

annual membership dues must be paid upon receipt of the dues invoice, which will 

be sent out following each AGM. 

  

(3) Only the Non-Voting Members are required to pay any annual membership dues. 

 

8. A person shall cease to be a member of the Association: 

 

(a) by delivering his/her resignation  in writing to the Executive or by mailing or 
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delivering it to the address of the Association; 

 

(b) on his/her death; 

 

(c) on being expelled; 

 

(d) on having been a member not in good standing, as described in paragraph 

10 hereafter, for 12 consecutive months;  

 

  (e) on ceasing to hold the office of mayor or councillor of a member 

municipality or of chair or director of a member regional district;  

 

9. (1) A member may be expelled by a special resolution of the members passed at a 

general meeting.  

 

(2) The notice of special resolution for expulsion shall be accompanied by a brief 

statement of the reason or reasons for the proposed expulsion. 

 

(3) The member who is the subject of the proposed resolution for expulsion shall be 

given an opportunity to be heard at the general meeting before the special 

resolution is put to a vote. 

 

10. All members are in good standing except a Non-Voting Member who has failed to pay its 

current or previous annual membership fees or any other subscription or debt due and 

owing by it to the Association.  It is not in good standing, so long as the debt remains 

unpaid. 

 

 

Part 3 - Meetings of Members 

 

11. General meetings of the Association shall be held at the time and place, in accordance with 

the Societies Act, that the directors decide.  All members shall be entitled to attend all 

meetings of the members of the Association.   The senior staff of a Non-Voting Member 

shall be entitled to attend all meetings of the members of the Association, but shall not be 

entitled to vote or to address matters placed before the Association, unless requested by 

the Executive to do so.  

 

12. Every general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, is an extraordinary general 

meeting. 

 

13. (1) The directors may, when they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. 

  

 (2) A minimum of 10% of members of the Association may request, in writing, an 

extraordinary general meeting. The written notice shall specify in detail the nature 

of the business intended to be conducted at the general meeting.  The Executive, 

notice will be provided to all members and the meeting will be held within 60 days 

of the distribution of the notice.  The only business conducted at such extraordinary 
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general meeting shall be business referred to in the said written notice. 

  

14. (1) Notice of a general meeting shall specify the place, day and hour of meeting, and, in 

case of special business, the general nature of that business. 

 

 (2) The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of a 

notice by, any of the members entitled to receive notice does not invalidate 

proceedings at that meeting. 

 

15. An annual general meeting shall be held at least once in every calendar year.  

 

  

Part 4 - Proceedings at General Meeting 

 

16. Special business at a general shall be: 

 

(a) all business at an extraordinary general meeting, except the adoption of 

rules of order; and 

 

(b) all business transacted at an annual  general meeting, except: 

  

(i)  the adoption of rules of order; 

 

(ii) the consideration of the financial statements; 

 

(iii) the report of the directors; 

 

(iv) the report of the auditor, if any; 

 

(v) the election of directors; 

 

(vi) the appointment of the auditor, if required; and 

 

(vii) the other business that, under these bylaws, ought to be transacted 

at an annual general meeting, or business which is brought under 

consideration by the report of the directors issued with the notice  

convening the meeting. 

  

17. (1) No business, other than the election of a chair and the adjournment or termination 

of the meeting, shall be conducted at a general meeting at a time when a quorum is 

not present. 

 

(2) If at any time during a general meeting there ceases to be a quorum present, 

business then in progress shall be suspended until there is quorum present or until 

the meeting is adjourned or terminated. 

 

 (3) A quorum is 15 Voting Members, representing at least 5 Non-Voting Members 
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present or a greater number that the members may determine at a general 

meeting. 

 

18. If, within 30 minutes from the time appointed for a general meeting, a quorum is not 

present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition of members, shall be terminated but in 

any other case, it shall stand adjourned. If at the continuation of the adjourned 

meeting, a quorum is not present, the voting members present shall constitute a quorum 

for the purposes of that meeting. 

 

19. Subject to paragraph 20, the President, or the Vice-President or in the absence of both, one 

of the other directors present, shall preside as chairperson of a general meeting. 

 

20. If at a general meeting: 

 

(a) there is no President, Vice-Presidents or other director present within 15 

minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting; or 

 

(b) the President and all the other directors present are unwilling to act as 

chair, then the members present shall choose one of their number to be 

chair. 

 

21. (1) A general meeting may be adjourned from time to time and from place to place, but 

no business shall be transacted at the continuation of an adjourned meeting other 

than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took 

place. 

 

(2) When a meeting is adjourned, notice of the continuation of the adjourned meeting 

shall be given as in the case of the original meeting. 

 

(3) Except as provided in this bylaw, it is not necessary to give notice of an adjournment 

or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned general meeting. 

 

22. (1) The chair of a meeting may move or propose a resolution. 

 

(2) In case of an equality of votes the chair shall not have a casting or second vote in 

addition to the vote to which he/she may be entitled as a member and the 

proposed resolution shall not pass. 

 

(3) Unless the Societies Act, or these Bylaws otherwise provide, any action to be taken 

by a resolution of the members of the Association may be taken by ordinary 

resolution. 

 

(4) Resolutions proposed by members will be considered by the Association at the 

annual general meeting only if they are received by the directors no later than 45 

days prior to the annual general meeting. 

 

(5) Resolution(s) proposed by a member must be distributed to the members and their 
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representatives at least 14 days prior to the annual general meeting; 

 

(6) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the members may submit any resolution, except a 

resolution to amend the Constitution or these Bylaws, to the annual general 

meeting for consideration or action at any time if 2/3 of Voting Members in 

attendance at the annual general meeting approve. 

 

  

23. (1) Each Voting Member in good standing present at a meeting of members is entitled 

to one vote. 

 

 (2) Voting is by show of hands. 

 

 (3) Voting by proxy is not permitted. 

 

 

Part 5 - Directors and Officers 

 

24. (1) The directors may exercise all the powers and do all the acts and things that the 

Association may exercise and do, but subject to: 

 

(a) all laws affecting the Association; 

 

(b) these bylaws; and 

 

(c) rules, not being inconsistent with these bylaws, which are made from time 

to time by the Association in general meeting. 

 

(2) No rule, made by the Association in general meeting, invalidates a prior act of the 

directors that would have been valid if that rule had not been made. 

 

25. (1) The first directors are those directors shown on the list of directors filed with the 

Registrar of Companies; 

 

(2) Unless and until changed by ordinary resolution, at the first and at each successive 

annual general meeting the Voting Members shall elect, from among the Voting 

Members in good standing: 

 

(i) a President, a First Vice-President, a Second Vice-President and a Third Vice-

President, who shall also be directors; and 

 

(ii) three (3) additional directors from amongst the Voting Members in good 

standing.  

 

(3) At the first and each successive annual general meeting, each Regional District that is a 

Non-Voting Member in good standing, shall appoint a nominee to act as a director and 

an alternate director.  In the event that the nominee fails or refuses to act or can no 
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longer continue as a director, then the alternate director shall act as director.   This 

bylaw 25(3) may be altered by ordinary resolution provided that such alteration also 

has the unanimous approval of all Regional Districts that are  Non-Voting Member in 

good standing; 

  

 (4) A person is eligible to be a director only when they are and while they remain a 

Voting Member in good standing. 

 

26. (1) The directors shall retire from office at each general meeting when their successors 

shall be elected. 

 

(2) The Past President and all directors shall comprise the executive committee of the 

Association (the “Executive”). 

 

(3) An election may be by acclamation, otherwise it shall be by ballot. 

  

 (4) if no successor is elected, acclaimed or appointed, the person previously elected, 

acclaimed or appointed to that position continues to hold office. 

 

(5) a director may be nominated in advance of the annual general meeting or may be 

nominated from the floor at the annual general meeting. 

  

27. (1) Subject to bylaw 25(3), the directors may at any time and from time to time appoint 

a member as a director to fill a vacancy in the directors. 

 

(2) A director so appointed holds office only until the conclusion of the next following 

annual general meeting of the Association, but is eligible for re-election at the 

meeting. 

 

28. (1) If a director resigns his/her office or otherwise ceases to hold office, the remaining 

directors shall appoint a member to take the place of the former director. 

 

(2) No act or proceeding of the directors is invalid only by reason of there being less 

than the prescribed number of directors in office. 

 

 (3) If a director ceases to be a Voting Member in good standing, the director ceases to 

hold office as a director of the Association. 

 

29. The Executive may by simple majority remove a director before the expiration of his/her 

term of office, and, subject to bylaw 25(3), may appoint a successor to complete the term 

of office. 

 

30. No director shall be remunerated for being or acting as a director but a director may be 

reimbursed for all expenses necessarily and reasonably incurred by him/her while engaged 

in the affairs of the Association. 
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Part 6 - Proceedings of Directors 

 

31. (1) The directors may meet together at the places they think fit to dispatch business, 

adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings and proceedings, as they see fit. 

 

(2) The directors may from time to time fix the quorum necessary to transact business, 

and unless so fixed the quorum shall be a majority of the directors then in office. 

 

(3) The President shall be chair of all meetings of the directors, but if at a meeting the 

President is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for holding the 

meeting, the Vice-President shall act as chair; but if neither is present the directors 

present may choose one of their number to be chair at that meeting. If the 

President is unable to complete his/her term of office then the First Vice-President 

will assume the office of President and the Second Vice-President shall assume the 

office of First Vice-President and the Third Vice-President shall assume the office of 

the Second Vice-President. 

 

(4)t any time  two directors may, request, and upon the request, the President shall, 

convene a meeting of the directors. 

 

32. (1) The directors may delegate any, but not all, of their powers to committees 

consisting of the director or directors as they think fit. 

 

 (2) A committee so formed in the exercise of the powers so delegated shall conform to 

any rules imposed on it by the directors, and shall report every act or thing done in 

exercise of those powers to the earliest meeting of the directors to be held next 

after it has been done. 

 

33. A committee chair shall be appointed from the board of directors, or if at a meeting the 

chair is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the 

directors present who are members of the committee shall choose one of their number to 

be chair of the meeting. 

 

34. The members of a committee may meet and adjourn as they think proper. 

 

35. For a first meeting of directors held immediately following the appointment or election of a 

director or directors at an annual or other general meeting of members, or for a meeting of 

the directors at which a director is appointed to fill a vacancy in the directors, it is not 

necessary to give notice of the meeting to the newly elected or appointed director or 

directors for the meeting to be constituted, if a quorum of the directors is present. 

 

36. A director who may be absent temporarily from British Columbia may send or deliver to the 

address of the Association a waiver of notice, which may be by letter, email or fax, of any 

meeting of the directors and may at any time withdraw the waiver, and until the waiver is 

withdrawn, 

 

(a) no notice of meeting of directors shall be sent to that director; and 
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(b) any and all meetings of the directors of the Association, notice of which has 

not been given to that director shall, if a quorum of the directors is present, 

be valid and effective. 

 

37. (1) Questions arising at a meeting of the directors and committee of directors shall be 

decided by a majority of votes. 

 

(2) In case of an equality of votes the chair does not have a second or casting vote. 

 

38. No resolution proposed at a meeting of directors or committee of directors need be 

seconded and the chair of a meeting may move or propose a resolution. 

 

39. A resolution in writing, signed by all the directors and placed with the minutes of the 

directors is as valid and effective as if regularly passed at a meeting of directors. 

 

 

Part 7 - Duties of Officers 

 

40. (1) The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the directors. 

 

(2) The President is the chief executive officer of the Association and shall supervise the 

other officers in the execution of their duties. 

 

(3) The President’s local government may provide appropriate administrative support 

at the request of the Executive and the Association shall pay the reasonable cost of 

such administrative support.  In addition, the Executive may hire an Executive 

Director. 

 

41. The First Vice-President shall carry out the duties of the President during the President’s 

absence and shall assume such additional duties/responsibilities that may be assigned by 

the President the Executive or the members. 

 

42. The Second Vice-President shall carry out the duties of the President and/or First Vice-

President if one or both the President and the First Vice-President are absent and shall 

assume such additional duties/responsibilities that may be assigned by the President, the 

Executive or the members.  The Third Vice-President shall carry out the duties of the 

President, First Vice-President or Second Vice-President if the President, First Vice-

President and Second Vice-President are absent and shall assume such 

duties/responsibilities that may be assigned by the President, the Executive or the 

members. 

 

 The Executive Director or administrative support staff shall be responsible for:   

 

(a) conducting the correspondence of the Association; 

 

(b) issuing notices of meetings of the Association and directors; 
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(c) keeping minutes of all meetings of the Association and directors; 

 

(d) having custody of all records and documents of the Association; 

 

(e) having custody of the common seal of the Association;  

 

(f) maintaining the register of members; 

 

(g) keeping the financial records, including books of account, necessary to 

comply with the Societies Act; and 

 

(h) rendering financial statements to the directors, members and others when 

required. 

 

 

Part 8 – Indemnities to Directors and Officers 

 

43. Subject to the provisions of the Societies Act, the directors must cause the Association to 

indemnify a director or former director of the Association and the heirs and personal 

representatives of any such person against all costs, charges and expenses, including an 

amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment actually and reasonably incurred by 

him, her or them including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment in a civil 

or administrative action or proceeding to which he/she are made a party by reason of 

his/her being or having been a director of the Association, including any action brought by 

the Association. Each director of the Association on being elected or appointed must be 

deemed to have contracted with the Association on the terms of the foregoing indemnity. 

 

44. Subject to the provisions of the Societies Act, the directors may cause the Association to 

indemnify any officer of the Association and his/her heirs and personal representatives 

against all costs and expenses whatsoever incurred by him/her and resulting from acting as 

an officer of the Association. 

 

45. The directors may cause the Association to purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit 

of any person who is or was serving as a director or officer of the Association and his/her 

heirs or personal representatives against any liability incurred by him/her as such director 

or officer. 

 

 

Part 9 – Execution of Documents 

 

46. Contracts, documents or any instruments in writing requiring the signature of the 

Association must be signed by any two officers, and all contracts, documents and 

instruments in writing so signed must be binding upon the Association without any further 

authorization or formality. The directors must have the power from time to time by 

unanimous agreement of the directors to appoint an officer or officers on behalf of the 

Association to sign specific documents, contracts and instruments in writing. 
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Part 10 – Borrowing 

 

47. In order to carry out the purposes of the Association the directors may, on behalf of and in 

the name of the Association, raise or secure the payment or repayment of money in the 

manner they decide, and, in particular but without limiting the foregoing, by the issue of 

debentures. 

 

48. No debenture shall be issued without the sanction of a special resolution. 

 

49. The members may by special resolution restrict the borrowing powers of the directors but a 

restriction imposed expires at the next annual general meeting. 

 

 

Part 11 - Auditor 

 

50. This Part applies only where the Association is required or has resolved to have an auditor. 

 

51. The first auditor shall be appointed by the directors who shall also fill all vacancies occurring 

in the office of auditor. 

 

52. At each annual general meeting the Association shall appoint an auditor to hold office until 

he/she is re-elected or his/her successor is elected at the next annual general meeting. 

 

53. An auditor may be removed by ordinary resolution. 

 

54. An auditor shall be promptly informed in writing of appointment or removal. 

 

55. No director and no employee of the Association shall be auditor. 

 

56. The auditor may attend general meetings. 

 

 

 

 

Part 12 - Notices to Members 

 

57. A notice may be given to a member via email and by posting on the Association web site. 

 

58. A notice sent by email and/or posted to the Association web site shall be deemed to have 

been given on the day it was sent and/or posted.  

 

59. (1) At least 14 days notice of a general meeting shall be given to 

 

(a) every member shown on the register of members on the day notice is given; 

and 
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(b) the auditor, if Part 10 applies. 

 

(2) No other person is entitled to receive a notice of general meeting. 

 

 

Part 13 - Bylaws 

 

60. On being admitted to membership, each member is entitled to and the Association shall 

give him/her, without charge, a copy of the constitution and bylaws of the Association 

 

61. These bylaws shall not be altered or added to except by special resolution. 
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APPENDIX 2 

EXECUTIVE POLICIES 
 

1. MEDIA RELATIONS 

(a) The President is the recognized spokesperson for the Lower Mainland LGA. All media 

inquiries that are seeking the official position or reaction of the Lower Mainland LGA should be 

referred to the President. 

 

(b) The First Vice President may act in the absence of the President.  

 

(c) Directors will not act as spokespersons for the Lower Mainland LGA unless they have first 

consulted with the President and been authorized by the President. 

 

(d) Directors may speak externally about Lower Mainland LGA issues and topics discussed 

provided that confidential requirements are followed and that their statements do not 

undermine the reputation or the integrity of the Lower Mainland LGA. 

 

 

2. AGENDA PREPARATION 

(a) A monthly schedule of Executive meetings will be placed on the Lower Mainland LGA 

website. 

 

(b) Agenda material sent to Executive members prior to an Executive meeting shall remain 

confidential until disposed of by subsequent Executive action and direction. 

 

(c) The agenda and supporting material should be provided to all Executive members so that it 

arrives at their designated e-mail address for receipt of correspondence on the Friday prior to 

the Executive meeting. 

 

(d) The President or Executive Director may, prior to the opening of the meeting, place before 

the Executive: 

• additional materials that support agenda items. 

• new items of business (as have been received from members or provincial or federal 

government) that were not known prior to the date on which the agenda was circulated 

and which are prudent to be dealt with by the Executive at the meeting. 

 

(e) It shall be prudent for the Executive to refer such items deemed not of an urgent nature to 

the next Executive meeting. 

 

(f) Other items not appearing on the agenda shall not be placed before the Executive without 
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2/3 approval of the Executive. 

 

(g) Any member of the Executive wishing to bring forward any new matter or point of 

information shall do so under “OTHER BUSINESS”. Any new matter of major importance, which 

may require further information that could or would normally be available to the Executive at 

such a meeting, may be ruled by the President, as a “notice of motion” and be placed on the 

agenda of the next meeting of the Executive. 

 

3. PUBLIC INFORMATION 

(a) Press Releases 

Press Releases are encouraged to promote Lower Mainland LGA activities, decisions, projects, 

and services. Press Releases are to be reviewed and approved by the President and Executive 

Director and to be sent on official Lower Mainland LGA letterhead. Press Releases should be 

sent to the media, Executive, emailed to our membership and posted on the Lower Mainland 

LGA website. The contact person for Executive matters is the President and the contact person 

for operational matters is the Executive Director. 

 

(b) Newsletter 

A pre-Convention Newsletter will be used to keep the members up to date on activities 

pertaining to the Annual General Meeting and Convention. A post-UBCM Convention newsletter 

will also be produced in order to inform members of the activities conducted at the UBCM 

Convention (meetings with Ministers etc.) 

 

(c) Member Communications 

Member Communications will be sent out as needed by the Executive Director.  Should the 

communications be going out under the Presidents’ name, the Executive Director will send a 

draft of the communication to the President for approval before distribution. 

 

4. MEMBER SERVICES 

(a) Website 

i. The Lower Mainland LGA will maintain an updated user-friendly website to provide 

members with information regarding Executive decisions, minutes, and 

activities/events. 

ii. All requests for posting information to the website will be coordinated through the 

Executive Director. 

iii. Information appearing on the Lower Mainland LGA website will not be used to promote 

an individual business over any other but will always strive to promote the Lower 

Mainland LGA. 

iv. Information appearing on the Lower Mainland LGA website will not be used to promote 

an individual political philosophy but will strive to promote Lower Mainland LGA 

philosophies and goals.  

 

(b) E-mail 

E-mail is to be used for business purposes and should be business like in format and tone. Full 

sentences, proper grammar, and punctuation are expected. E-mail received during the course of 

Lower Mainland LGA business becomes part of the Lower Mainland LGA record. Email received 

by the Lower Mainland LGA will be identifiable through a sign off providing the correspondents 

full name, address, and phone number. Unsigned email will be treated as anonymous. 

 

(c) Telephone 
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Telephone callers calling the  Lower Mainland LGA for the purpose of statement of opinion or to 

make complaint will be told their opinions and complaints are to be submitted in writing and 

must include a return address in order to be considered by staff or the Lower Mainland LGA 

Executive. 

 

(d) Surveys 

From time to time, the Lower Mainland LGA may conduct surveys or polls to garner member 

opinion regarding association issues, policy direction and member satisfaction. 

 

(e) Social Media 

The Lower Mainland LGA embraces the use of social media and other technologies that enable 

the Executive to communicate and share information in a professional manner. The Lower 

Mainland LGA shall endeavor to have a social media presence, which shall be managed and 

updated by the Executive Director. All postings shall be reflective of Lower Mainland LGA 

policies. 

  

 

5. HANDLING CORRESPONDENCE 

(a) Incoming Correspondence 

The Executive Director shall route all correspondence in accordance with the following 

guidelines: 

i. Correspondence addressed to “President” or a specific “Executive Member”, unless of a 

personal nature, will be placed on the Executive agenda. 

ii. Correspondence that is unsigned, unaddressed, form letters, or journal information will 

not be actioned. 

iii. All correspondence addressed to the Board will be placed on the agenda. 

 

(b) Outgoing Correspondence 

(i) All official correspondence of the Lower Mainland LGA shall be sent out under the 

letterhead of the Lower Mainland LGA and shall be used for the purpose of obtaining or 

giving information or conveying the official position of the Lower Mainland LGA 

established by resolution adopted at a regularly constituted meeting.  

(ii) All correspondence sent by the Lower Mainland LGA to a federal or provincial minister 

shall be sent out under the signature of the President. 

(iii) All correspondence written by the Executive Director and going out under the Presidents’ 

name, will be sent to the President for approval before distribution. 

(iv) Correspondence arising from an Executive meeting will be prepared within five business 

days following the meeting. 

 

 

6. MEMBERSHIP IN OTHER ORGANIZATIONS 

Decisions relating to obtaining memberships in external organizations must be made by the 

Executive. Membership renewals shall be reviewed on an annual basis. The following questions 

can be helpful in guiding discussion related to obtaining or retaining external memberships: 

• Is membership required? 

• How significant is this membership to Lower Mainland LGA local governments? 

• Will membership advance the achievement of Lower Mainland LGA policies? 

• What are the financial implications for Lower Mainland LGA? 

• What are the consequences to Lower Mainland LGA local governments if Lower 

Mainland LGA is not a member? 
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• What is the nature of membership? 

• Are there alternate ways of ensuring Lower Mainland LGA interests are protected? 

• What other groups are members? 

• Is there anything else we should consider regarding membership in this organization? 

 

 

7. COMMITTEES 

(a) Committees may be formed as directed by the executive. 

(b) The Executive shall appoint and define the powers and duties of every Committee except the 

Nominating Committee and the Resolutions Committee. 

(c) The Nomination Committee shall consist of the Immediate Past President and be supported 

by the Lower Mainland LGA Executive Director. 

 

(c) There shall be a Resolutions Committee composed of the members of the 

Executive. 

 

(d) The Resolutions Committee shall: 

• examine all resolutions submitted to the Convention. 

• recommend in favour of, against or provide no recommendation to the resolutions 

respectively. 

• may correlate resolutions; and, 

• may recommend amendments. 

 

8. FINANCES 

(a) Expenses 

Expenses shall be reimbursed for Executive members on authorized business of the Association 

except for attending the Annual UBCM Convention. Authorized attendance is defined as ongoing 

Executive meetings, Committee meetings and any business endorsed by the Executive. Any 

exceptions are outlined below: 

i. The Lower Mainland LGA President or authorized delegate shall attend the Annual 

Convention of other Area Associations (AVICC, AKBLG, SILGA and NCLGA) and 

represent the Lower Mainland LGA. The President shall attend one each year on a 

rotating basis. 

ii. The travel expenses, registration fee and hotel accommodation for the President’s 

attendance at the Area Association conventions shall be borne by the Lower Mainland 

LGA. Receipts for all expenses will be required for reimbursement. 

iii. No travel expenses nor part of any other expenses normally incurred by Executive 

members in attending the Annual Convention will be borne by the Lower Mainland LGA. 

 

(b) Travel Allowance 

The mileage allowance for car travel shall be paid at the current year’s provincial government 

rate per kilometer, where authorized business is required. 

 

(c) Signing Authority 

 

The Executive will confirm signing officers annually following the AGM. Cheques written on the 

Lower Mainland LGA bank account will require two signatures. 

 

Association expenses at or below $2000 may be handled by the Executive Director without prior 

approval of the Executive, in keeping with regular business practices. Purchases above $2000 
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require the authorization of the Association President or, in the absence of the President, the 

First Vice-President. Executive approval is required for purchases above $5000. 

 

 

(d) Executive Director 

The Executive Director will submit an invoice for their contracted services and authorized 

expenses on a monthly basis.  The invoices are to be emailed to the President and First Vice 

President.  The President will approve the invoice in writing via email.  In the absence of the 

President, the First Vice President may approve the invoices. Once approval is received in 

writing, the Executive Director is then authorized to etransfer the approved amount from the 

Lower Mainland LGA bank account to the Executive Director. 

 

 

9. EXECUTIVE 

(a) There shall be an Executive, which shall be composed of: 

i. The Officers of the Lower Mainland LGA, consisting of: 

o President 

o First Vice President 

o Second Vice President 

o Third Vice President 

ii. The Immediate Past President, who shall be the last president to have completed 

the term of office as President. 

iii. A representative from each of the member Regional Districts – Squamish-Lillooet 

Regional District, the Greater Vancouver Regional District, and the Fraser Valley 

Regional District, and who must be a member of the respective Board; and, 

iv. Three Directors at Large. 

 

(b) No person shall hold a position as Officer of the Lower Mainland LGA more than twice, 

whether consecutively or otherwise. 

 

(c) In the event of a vacancy occurring amongst the Officers, the next ranking Officer willing to 

serve shall fill the vacancy, provided that if the office of President cannot for any reason be filled 

as aforesaid, the Executive shall call a special election for the office of President and such 

election may be held by a mail ballot pursuant to the rules and procedures established and 

determined by the Executive. 

 

(d) In the event of a vacancy: 

i. The Executive may appoint a First Vice President, Second Vice President and Third Vice 

President from amongst persons qualified to be elected to the Executive, from the 

current Directors at Large equal to the number of vacancies. 

ii. Amongst the Directors at Large, the Executive may appoint a person qualified to hold 

the office to fill the position for the term remaining. 

iii. In the position of Regional District Representatives, such vacancies shall be filled in the 

manner of the original appointment. 

 

(e) Members of the Executive must be able and willing to fulfill their duties as described below: 

• attend a minimum of eight (8) meetings per year. 

• attend the annual conference of the Association. 

• perform duties of a board member at the AGM, as outlined in the Executive 

Responsibilities document and any other duties arising as a decision by the Executive. 
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(f) Past President  

All members of the Executive shall hold office only so long as they remain elected 

representatives of a member of Lower Mainland LGA.  If a person holding the office of 

Immediate Past President ceases to be an elected representative of a member of Lower 

Mainland LGA while holding the office, they shall only hold the office for the remainder of the 

then current term.  Should the Immediate Past President not be re-elected, and the President be 

elected for a second term then the most immediate elected Past President assume the duties of 

Past President.  

 

 

10. LIFE MEMBERSHIP 

(a) Life membership may be granted by the Executive to persons who have made a significant 

contribution to local government in British Columbia.  

 

(b) All Past Presidents shall be life members.  

 

(c) Life members who are not member delegates shall have the privilege of the floor, but with 

the exception of the immediate Past President shall not be entitled to vote. 

 

(d) Life Members who no longer hold elected office shall be offered complimentary registration 

to attend the annual convention. 

 

(e) Life Members will be recognized on the Lower Mainland LGA website. 

 

 

11. CONVENTION 

(a) Registration 

i. A late registration surcharge of 20% of all registration fees will be charged for 

registrations received six weeks immediately preceding the convention. 

ii. Refunds of prepaid convention fees will be made on the following basis: 

o Cancellations received 21 days before convention starts – 100% refund minus a 

$50 administration fee. 

o Cancellation received between 21 days and 14 days before convention starts – 

50% refund. 

o Cancellation received 13 days before convention starts – no refund. 

iii. The following individuals shall receive complimentary convention registrations 

for the business program (tickets must be purchased for meal events): 

o Cabinet Ministers 

o Members of the Legislative Assembly  

o British Columbia Members of Parliament 

o UBCM President 

o Presidents of other BC Area Associations 

 

 (b) Convention Charity 

i. The Executive will consider, on a best effort basis, to allocate one exhibitor space to a 

charitable non-profit. Applications for this complimentary booth space will be accepted 

in January of each year.  

ii. The successful applicants for this booth space will be the recipient for the annual 
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“speaker gift” donation process, which includes donations made to a charitable non-

profit on behalf of AGM speakers as a thank you to them for their services.  

 

(c) Theme 

The Convention Sub-committee will strive to establish the theme by January 15th of each year. 

And, the choice of charitable non-profits should be reflective of this theme.   

 

(d) Convention Media Policy 

       i.       Complimentary registration (no meals included) is provided to qualified journalists  

who meet the conference registration criteria on a space-available basis. 

Applications for media credentials will be accepted from journalists employed or on 

assignment from recognized print, broadcast, and online general and government 

news media 

To be accredited, journalists must submit the following 

• Name 

• Complete contact information (office and mobile numbers and email 

address) and the name of the media outlet that they will be representing 

• Proof of employment by the media outlet (e.g., a copy of the publication’s 

masthead with the reporter’s name listed) or a letter of assignment from the 

editor, producer, or news director of the outlet if the reporter is freelance 

ii. Media will receive written confirmation via email confirming their application has 

been approved or declined.  Approval in prior years is not a guarantee for future 

Lower Mainland LGA Conventions 

iii. The Lower Mainland LGA reserves the right to limit the number of media 

accreditations issued  

iv. Media agree to conduct themselves in a manner that will not cause offence to or 

inhibit the enjoyment of all conference attendees, staff, and the convention venue 

v. Media may not record the AGM, Resolutions Session or any networking event nor 

may interviews take place in the conference sessions or networking spaces 

vi. Media may not ask questions during the convention sessions 

 

 

12. SPONSORSHIP 

(a) The purpose of sponsorship is to advance the goals and values of the Lower Mainland LGA 

which are: 

i. to enhance and provide the format to improve and refine the quality and level of 

services provided by Local Government to its citizens. 

ii. to promote the welfare and the wellbeing of taxpayers and residents of the members of 

the Association. 

iii. to promote and support to a satisfactory resolve, the concerns of members that are in 

keeping with the overall objectives of the Association; and, 

iv. to promote and advance to UBCM on behalf of the membership, proposed changes in 

legislation, regulations, or Government policies. 

 

(b) Sponsorship arrangements are an important source of funding for the Lower Mainland LGA 

Convention and other events allowing the Association to keep the cost of such events affordable 

for all local governments. Approval is at the prerogative of the Executive and is based on the 

following criteria: 

i. The sponsor’s public image, mandate, products, and services must be consistent with 

the goals and values of the Lower Mainland LGA. 
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ii. The sponsorship must not result in, or be perceived to result in any competitive 

advantage, benefit, or preferential treatment for the sponsor outside of the identified 

benefits associated with the sponsorship agreement. 

 

(c) A sponsorship is a mutually beneficial business exchange between the Lower Mainland LGA 

and an external organization (the sponsor) whereby the sponsor contributes funds or in-kind 

services to the Association in return for recognition, acknowledgement, speaking opportunities, 

or other promotional considerations. Sponsorships typically involve a relationship between the 

sponsor and a specific program, event, service, or activity being sponsored. Tax receipts are not 

issued for funds, products or in-kind services made to the Lower Mainland LGA. The Lower 

Mainland LGA considers donations a form of sponsorship. All sponsors will be listed publicly. 

 

(d) The Lower Mainland LGA will consider all sponsorship proposals, however, is under no 

obligation to accept any of them. Criteria for consideration and process for approving 

sponsorships is as follows: 

• All sponsorship agreements shall be evaluated by the Executive on an annual basis to 

determine continued benefit. 

 

(e)The Lower Mainland LGA shall retain ownership and control over any sponsored property or 

activities. Sponsors may not transfer or delegate their sponsorship to another group without 

written consent from the Lower Mainland LGA. 

 

(f) The Lower Mainland LGA does not endorse the products, services, or ideas of the sponsor. 

Sponsors are prohibited from implying that their products, services, or ideas are 

sanctioned by the Lower Mainland LGA. 

 

(g) All sponsorship relationships shall be confirmed in writing. A written offer or invitation to 

sponsor and a subsequent acceptance must be formalized in the “Sponsorship Commitment 

Form”. The term of such agreement is the completion of the activity or event associated with 

the sponsorship. Any breach of the Sponsorship Commitment Form by the sponsor allows the 

Lower Mainland LGA the right to remove the entity as sponsor at any time. Upon signage of the 

Sponsorship Commitment Form, the sponsor confirms their commitment to the Lower Mainland 

LGA and waives the right to a refund. 

Returning sponsors that participated in the previous Lower Mainland LGA Conference & AGM will 

be given first right of refusal to sponsor the same aspect of the event. Confirmation of sponsorship 

for returning sponsors is due before January 10th of each year.  

Allocation of Booth Spaces: Returning sponsors will be given first selection on their preferred 

exhibit location followed by returning exhibitors. Confirmation by returning sponsors and 

exhibitors is due by January 10th of each year after which new exhibitors are welcome to the 

remaining spaces on a first come first serve basis.  Consideration will also be given to those 

sponsors/exhibitors with power needs and the location of outlets within the conference building. 

Terms: Upon receipt of the signed Commitment Form, an invoice for the sponsorship will be 

issued. Payment is due within 30 days to guarantee sponsorship. Sponsors may not transfer this 

agreement to another agency in part or in whole.  

 

(h) Benefits to the sponsor are to be commensurate with the size, scope, and prominence of the 

sponsorship. Executive will review annually the regular sponsorship opportunities and their 
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associated benefits available in relation to the annual Convention. Sponsorship opportunities 

and associated benefits for other events organized by the Association will be reviewed and 

approved by the Executive. 

 

 

13. PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

The following principles will be adhered to in the procurement of materials and services: 

 

(a) Fair Competition 

The Association will treat all bidders with fairness and ensure that they are given the same level 

of information when preparing Request for Proposals or tenders. 

 

(b) Cost-effectiveness Request for Proposals and tenders will be evaluated not only on 

competitiveness in pricing but also factors such as the quality of the products/services, track 

records of the bidders and alignment with Association values. 

 

(c) Transparency 

Request for Proposal and tender documents must provide all the necessary information to 

facilitate submission of appropriate and competitive tenders. 

 

(d) Ethical Purchasing 

The Association is committed to purchasing goods and services from responsible producers that 

supply quality products at competitive prices and abide by ethical standards and norms. This 

Policy ensures that purchasing activities are aligned with the Association’s values by seeking to 

ensure that workplaces producing goods and providing services for the Association respect 

human and workers’ rights where human and civil rights conditions are in compliance with the 

core labour conventions of the International Labour Organization (ILO). Association suppliers 

and their sub-contractors will comply with national and other applicable laws of the country of 

manufacture of products including those laws relating to labour, worker health and safety, and 

the environment.  

 

(e) Sustainable Purchasing 

The Association wishes to purchase products and services that have positive environmental and 

social attributes. Where there are significant social/environmental impacts, calls may 

incorporate SE product/service specifications.  Proponents may be asked to provide goods with 

an eco-label and/or demonstrate how the goods/services being offered address key 

sustainability issues such as:  greenhouse gas reduction, waste and packaging reduction, toxin 

reduction, socio-economic sustainability. 

 

 

14. PROCUREMENT GUIDELINES 

(a) Request for Proposal 

i. The Association will go to RFP every three years for the following: 

o procurements of value exceeding $10,000; and/or 

o for contracts associated with the following:  

 Audio-Visual 

 Hotels 

ii. A notice of tender invitations should be advertised for response by all interested 

suppliers or contractors. 

iii. Written quotations should be sought from at least three (3) suppliers, if at all possible, 
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including the successful tenderer in the last procurement exercise (whose goods or 

services met the requirements). 

 

(b) Tender Documents 

The Executive Director should prepare the tender documents/quotation and provide all the 

required information in the documents to facilitate bidding from tenderers. The information 

should include tender specifications and requirements, conditions of contract, required quantity 

of items and service and timing of provision, assessment criteria, tender closing date and time, 

the place for depositing the tender, the contact person, and the officer to whom enquiries may 

be made. 

 

(c) Submission of Tenders 

Unless in exceptional circumstance of urgency, tenderers should be allowed sufficient time to 

submit their tenders. Tenderers must submit their tenders before the tender closing date and 

time specified in the tender documents. Any tenders received after the tender closing time shall 

not be considered. 

 

(d) Tender/ Quotation Evaluation 

i. In general, tender evaluation should be carried out by the Association Executive as a 

whole, but may be designated to a Committee, should the Executive deem it 

appropriate.  

ii. The assessment panel should undertake an extensive value for money assessment 

amongst the eligible tenders and evaluate according to the pre-set assessment criteria.  

 

(e) Acceptance of Tender 

i. After endorsement and approval of the selection result, the successful tenderer should 

be officially notified and be invited to enter into a contract with the Association.  

ii. Should none of the tenders received fulfill the required specifications and conditions, 

the tendering exercise should be canceled. The original specifications and conditions 

should be amended as necessary for purpose of re-tendering.  

 

(f) Procedure of Handling Complaints 

The Association is committed to maintaining a fair and open procurement system. Tenderers 

who consider themselves being treated unfairly may lodge a complaint with the Association. 

 

(g) Approval and Authorization 

The Executive Board is the deciding body when considering all RFP’s submitted to the 

Association.  

  

Last Updated:  

January 16, 2014 

February 6, 2014 

February 7, 2014 

February 19, 2014 

March 5, 2014 

March 7, 2014  

Approved at April 16, 2014 Executive Meeting 

February 15, 2017 – updated section 8 

June 4, 2018 – updated section 9 

June 17, 2020 
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APPENDIX 3 

 

2020 LMLGA MEMBERS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITIES  

Abbotsford 

Burnaby 

Chilliwack 

Coquitlam 

Delta 

Langley 

Maple Ridge 

New Westminster 

North Vancouver 

Pitt Meadows 

Port Coquitlam 

Port Moody 

Richmond 

Surrey 

Vancouver 

White Rock 

DISTRICTS  

Hope  

Kent 

Langley 

Mission 

North Vancouver 

Squamish 

West Vancouver 

 

REGIONAL DISTRICTS 

Fraser Valley 

Metro Vancouver 

Squamish-Lillooet 

RESORT MUNICIPALITY 

Whistler 

 

ISLAND MUNICIPALITY 

Bowen Island 

 
VILLAGES  

Anmore 

Belcarra 

Harrison Hot Springs 

Lions Bay 

Pemberton 
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APPENDIX 4 

 

2019-2020 Lower Mainland LGA EXECUTIVE 

 

 

 

NAME POSITION LOCAL GOVERNMENT  

Mayor Jack Crompton  President  Whistler                         

Councillor Laura Dupont  First Vice President  Port Coquitlam 

Councillor Patrick Johnstone  Second Vice President  New Westminster 

Councillor Jenna Stoner  Third Vice President  Squamish 

Councillor Jason Lum  Past President  Chilliwack 

Councillor Patricia Ross  Director at Large  Abbotsford 

Councillor Samantha Piper  Director at Large  Harrison Hot Springs 

Councillor Trish Mandewo  Director at Large  Coquitlam 

Director Dennis Adamson  FVRD Representative  Fraser Valley RD 

Director Russell Mack  SLRD Representative  SLRD 

Mayor Neil Belenkie  Metro Vancouver Rep  Belcarra 
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